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Bringing Banking to Life
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Vision
At KFH-Bahrain we believe that banking is not just 
about money. For us it is something that can improve 
people’s lives. Whether we are providing commercial 
and investment banking services or financial products 
for consumers, we start by understanding our 
customers and their needs. With an emphasis on 
innovation, we aim to provide cutting edge Islamic 
banking solutions while staying faithful to Shari’a 
principles, with a view to enhancing the lives of our 
customers.

Mission
It is our mission to “Bring Banking to Life” by 
focusing on innovation, thinking outside the box and 
insisting on excellence in everything we do. This 
includes the development and provision of a wide 
range of integrated products and services in perfect 
harmony with Shari’a principles. Our mission and our 
commitment are backed by a robust financial position 
and a long and proven heritage of ingenuity, innovation 
and integrity.

KFH-Bahrain is a wholly-owned subsidiary of KFH-Kuwait who manages its operations in 
the GCC, Asia, and Europe through over 480 branches. The Group offer services to clients 
in Kuwait, Bahrain, Turkey, Malaysia and Manheim in Germany. 
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Net Income
BD Million

Operating Income 
BD Million

Total Assets 
BD Million

Customer Deposits
BD Million

Three Year 
Highlights
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848
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Kuwait Finance House - Bahrain (KFH-Bahrain) (the 
“Bank”) was established in October 2002 as the 
first wholly-owned subsidiary of Kuwait Finance 
House - Kuwait, to offer a compelling concept in 
Islamic Banking that combines both Investment and 
Commercial banking products and services.

Built on the same strengths and vision that has made 
KFH-Kuwait a leader in the Islamic banking industry 
for more than 40 years, KFH-Bahrain is committed to 
the creation of assets and wealth for its stakeholders, 
participation in the advancement and growth of the 
Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) and broader Middle 
Eastern economies, and the promotion of Islamic 
banking worldwide.

KFH-Bahrain’s mission is to deliver excellence and 
innovation through a broad and integrated range of 
financial products and services that comply with 
Shari’a principles. Accordingly, KFH- Bahrain seeks 
to use advanced technologies wherever possible to 
deliver personalised, end-to-end, fully automated 
digital services that are fast, secure, efficient, and, 
above all, easy to access and use. Backed by an 
extensive branch network in strategic locations, KFH-
Bahrain aims to deliver the best customer experience 
in the market, both online and face to face.

KFH-Bahrain’s reputation for adopting the highest 
Shari’a compliance standards is matched only by 
its commitment to maintaining a robust financial 
position and honouring a long history of ingenuity and 
leadership. This is reflected by the dedication of the 
Bank’s staff to their work while they strive to meet the 
needs of a fast-growing market.

With demand steadily growing for Shari’a compliant 
products and services, KFH-Bahrain plays a pioneering 
role in developing new services, financing structures, 
and investment vehicles that can meet these needs 
and deliver attractive risk-adjusted returns.

Since its establishment, the Bank has created a 
strong portfolio of products and services and devised 
important innovations that have gained the confidence 
of a rapidly expanding customer and investor base 
throughout its Consumer, Corporate, and Investment 
Banking operations.

These include finance facility innovations such as 
Tamweely Personal Finance, which strictly adheres 
to Shari’a principles, while allowing customers to 
fulfil their personal financing requirements; Libshara 
prize draw, which allows customers the chance to win 
prizes including valuable properties; and the ‘Mazaya’ 
Social Housing Scheme, which, in collaboration with 
the Ministry of Housing, provides customers with 
convenient mortgage financing. In addition, KFH-
Bahrain recently launched its digital onboarding 
platform Jazeel, which enables customers to open an 
account within 7 minutes and manage their services 
through a mobile application.
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Kuwait Finance House - Bahrain 
Delivering Excellence in Islamic Banking

KFH-Bahrain 
enjoys a reputation 
as a performance-
driven, results-
oriented institution.
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In the name of Allah, the most Gracious, the most Merciful. 
Peace and Blessings be upon the Last Prophet & Messenger 
Muhammad, His Household and His Companions.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), it gives me 
great pleasure to present the 2018 Annual Report of Kuwait 
Finance House - Bahrain (the “Bank”).

Delivering key milestones

In 2018, the Bank successfully completed a series of 
substantial changes to our operations in line with our 
strategic objectives for the year which significantly 
improved our product and service offerings as well 
as providing the Bank with a more robust operating 
infrastructure. 

This included the introduction of our acclaimed ‘KFH 
Jazeel’ digital onboarding platform, rationalization of our 
auto finance services and a significant upgrade of our 
IT infrastructure to introduce best in class hardware and 
enhanced resilience and speed. Finally, the team worked 
extremely hard to deliver exceptional governance and 
compliance throughout the year to enhance what were 
already very robust working practices.

Once again we extend our sincere gratitude to all the 
staff in both Kuwait and Bahrain for their strong team 
spirit and exceptional delivery across a wide range of 
areas.  

Kingdom of Bahrain - Economic 
highlights 

The Bahrain economy experienced a number of key 
milestones in the year which provide significant comfort 
for the economic outlook going forward. The Financial 
Support Agreement reached within the GCC saw a 
commitment to $10bn in external support over the long 
term. In turn the Bahrain Government also committed to 
a range of measures which have become known as the 
‘Six Pillars’ aimed at reducing government expenditure, 
increasing efficiency and increasing transparency over 

a range of services. This had an immediate positive 
impact in the international markets especially with 
the forward rates for the Bahraini Dinar and the Credit 
Default Swaps reaching normal levels. 

In addition, the recent announcement of a highly 
significant shale oil and gas discovery has lent 
comfort to the notion of being able to undertake a 
fiscal rebalance over the medium to long term. On 
the infrastructure side, a number of major projects 
were also announced in the year including the $4.2bn 
Bapco expansion, $4bn allocation to the power and 
desalination sectors, and increased delivery in the 
Ministry of Housing schemes of which to date KFH 
Bahrain has been instrumental in providing financing 
to build over 2,000 homes ready for handover as part 
of the Diyar Al Muharraq - Deerat Al Oyoun affordable 
housing scheme. 

However, most significant of all was the enactment 
of six keys laws and introduction of regulations 
aimed at increasing foreign direct investment and 
encouraging entrepreneurial activity to boost the 
economy at the grass roots level. Amongst these 
was the introduction of the Personal Data Protection 
law (first in the GCC) which sends a strong signal to 
investors that regulations within Bahrain will mirror 
those with whom they are in the process of complying 
already. A new Competition Law was introduced 
and Competition Authority created to ensure a level 
playing field and encourage diversification. Others 
laws include the introduction of a Bankruptcy Law, 
Health Insurance Law and Real Estate Law with VAT 
also being implemented at the start of 2019.



KFH-Bahrain Financial Results 
Building on Core activities 

Total Assets closed the year at BD1,504.8m (2017: 
BD1,310.3m) which represents an improvement of 
BD194.5m (+14.8%) year on year. A substantial part 
of this is as a result of a concerted effort to grow 
our customer base with financing contracts having 
increased to BD886.8m (2017: BD737.6m) representing 
an improvement of BD149.2m (+20.2%). 

In addition to this we targeted to grow our High Quality 
Liquid Assets (HQLA) portfolio by further investing in 
Sukuk which reached BD219.0m (2017: BD157.0m) 
representing an increase of BD62.0m (+39.5%) in the year. 

On the liabilities side our overall Customer deposits 
reached BD979.9m (2017: BD 847.7m) which is an 
improvement of BD132.2m (+15.6%). This was due 
to sustained focused on attracting and retaining 
retail customers through competitive rates and new 
business friendly options such as the highly acclaimed 
Call Account.

Total income for the year grew to BD70.3m (2017: 
BD61.1m) representing an increase of BD9.2m 
(+15.0%). A key factor in the increase is that the 
income from financing contracts reached BD52.3m 
(2017: BD42.9m) which is due to the increase in 
average financing balances of BD139.4m and higher 
average financing yields which have increased to 
5.95% from 5.78% in 2017. With this increase comes 
also an increased level of diversification of the portfolio 
covering most sectors of the economy.

Income from sukuk also reached BD11.2m (2017: BD 
7.0m) due to the increase in average Sukuk balances 
from 2017. Average yields on Sukuk are also higher 
i.e. 5.34% compared to 4.54% in 2017 largely driven 
by the new higher coupon issuances in the year and 
we will continue to ensure that Sukuk remains a key 
component of our HQLA.

Net Income for the year is BD18.4m (2017: BD20.0m) 
with the reduction from the previous year being due 
mostly in making additional provisions. However, 
Return On Equity is 10.42% which is one of the highest 
ratios amongst our Islamic banking peers in Bahrain.

Digital transformation – major advances

A key strategic aim of the Bank in 2018 was to ‘use 
advanced technologies to deliver personalized, end-
to-end, fully automated digital services which are fast, 
secure, efficient and above all easy to access and use’. 
To that end, the Bank initiated and executed a number 
of major initiatives the first of which was the launch of a 
new customer digital onboarding platform branded as 
‘KFH Jazeel’. 

This was the result of a sustained five-month development 
programme using the latest techniques whereby the 
team created a mobile banking application available on 
both iOS and Android platforms allowing users to open 
a bank account within a few minutes backed by robust 
identity verification and eKYC process. 

Membership of the KFH Jazeel banking platform also 
gave Bahraini youth access to two important social 
programmes that were also launched in 2018 under 
the ‘Community Banking’ umbrella. The first was an 
Internship programme sponsored by the Bank to 
provide placements to enable young entrepreneurs 
to gain exposure to a range of banking operations 
to enhance their business knowledge and skills. The 
second programme heralded that start of a number of 
industry focused initiatives run through a competition 
format the first prize for which was placement with 
one of Bahrain’s most prestigious jewelry designers 
and suppliers. Both these parts of the KFH Jazeel 
programme have been extraordinarily successful and 
further initiatives are planned for 2019.

The Cards department, also launched “KFHB Cards”, 
a project to develop a mobile banking application 
specifically aimed at helping clients monitor and 
manage their credit card usage with the Bank including 
a range of self-service options that are available 24/7. 
These digital banking developments were further 
enhanced by an upgrade in the e-Banking platform and 
the development and release of our mobile banking 
application to capture all market segments of the online 
banking community.  
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Operational rationalization – Increasing 
efficiency

During the year, we further rationalized our auto 
financing portfolio by profitably divesting our last 
remaining Automall operations so that we no longer hold 
vehicles directly for sale as part of our auto financing 
options. This change has helped us to significantly 
improve the returns from the operation and, leveraging 
our branch network, we are now better able to serve 
our customers across the country through our flexibly 
deployed and dedicated sales teams. Plans are in place 
to further increase revenues from this operation which 
are expected to come to fruition in 2019. 

Regulation, Compliance & Governance – 
Increasing our standards

Another key strategic aim of the Bank in 2018 was to 
even further enhance our governance environment with 
a view to ensuring that the Bank remains amongst the 
best in the industry. To that end, specific focus was 
brought to bear to key functions such as Audit, Risk & 
Compliance to further empower the teams to drive for 
excellence. This included timely and effective resolution 
of all challenges as well as seeking to deliver standards 
well above and beyond industry norms. 

One such example is that for the first time, the Bank 
was able to simultaneously hold three important 
external certifications which were assessed in 2018 and 
awarded at the start of 2019. These are PCI-DSS (Card 
Data Environment), ISO 27001 (Information Security) & 
ISO 22301 (Business Continuity) and we believe that 
we are the first Bank in Bahrain to do so. Not only is 
this a significant external confirmation of a robust 
governance environment but an excellent reward for all 
the staff that worked tirelessly to achieve them.

In addition, the Bank initiated a project to significantly 
upgrade our IT hardware and software to the most 
advanced available in order to increase resilience and 
improve security. The project was completed in record 
time delivering outstanding results with the teams 
working round the clock with our external technology 
partners and consultants. We are very pleased with the 

infrastructure that has now been delivered which 
again we believe we are one of the first in Bahrain 
to adopt.

Adherence to the Principles of Islamic 
Banking
On behalf of the Board I am once again pleased to 
recognize the excellent work of our Fatwa and Shari’a 
Supervisory Board comprising of the well-respected 
scholars Shaikh Dr. Mohammed Al-Tabatabee 
(Chairman), Shaikh Dr. Anwar Shuaib Abdulsalam 
(Member) and Shaikh Dr. Mubarak Jazaa Al-Harbi 
(Member) who continued to work tirelessly to ensure 
the Bank’s products and services adhere to Islamic 
principles, supported by a hard working professional 
team within the Bank.

With gratitude
On behalf of the Board and management, with deep 
gratitude, I thank His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa 
Al Khalifa, His Royal Highness Prince Khalifa bin 
Salman Al Khalifa, the Prime Minister, His Royal 
Highness Prince Salman bin Hamad Al Khalifa, The 
Crown Prince, Deputy Supreme Commander and 
First Deputy Prime Minister. I would also like to thank 
his Excellency the Governor of the Central Bank of 
Bahrain for his valuable support and direction and 
also thank the various ministries of the Government 
of Bahrain.

We are also deeply thankful to our respected 
stakeholders for their continued support, our 
customers and business partners for their trust 
and loyalty, and the management and staff for their 
continued dedication and professionalism.

May Allah grant everyone the best in this Life and 
the Hereafter.
May the peace, mercy and blessings of Allah be 
upon you.

Hamad Abdulmohsen Al-Marzouq
Chairman



Board of 
Directors

KFH-Bahrain   Annual Report 2018p12

Hamad Abdulmohsen 
Al-Marzouq
Chairman

Abdulwahab Isa 
Alrushood
Board Member

Khalid Mohamed
Alsaad
Board Member

Mohammad Naser 
Al Fouzan 
Vice Chairman

Shadi Ahmad 
Zahran 
Board Member

Youssif Abdullah
Taqi
Board Member

Abdulhakeem Y. 
Alkhayyat 
Managing Director & CEO

Noorur Rahman 
Abid
Board Member

Abdullah A. 
Al-Marzouq
Board Member



Fatwa and Shari’a 
Supervisory Board

Board of Directors, Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board p13

Sheikh Dr. Mohammed 
Abdul Razaq Al-Tabtabaee
Chairman

Sheikh Dr. Mubarak 
Jazaa Al-Harbi 
Member

Sheikh Dr. Anwar Shuaib 
Al-Abdulsalam
Member



Executive & Senior 
Management

KFH-Bahrain   Annual Report 2018p14

Abdul Razak 
Jawahery
Executive Manager

Alya AlShakhoory
Senior Manager
Anti Financial Crimes

Raed Ajawi
Executive Manager

Ahmad Saeed
Executive Manager

Khalid Al Maarafi
Executive Manager

Lilian Le Falher
Executive Manager

Abdulhakeem Y. 
Alkhayyat
Managing Director & CEO

Paul Mercer
Executive Manager

Yousif Al-Hammadi
Executive Manager

Amit Yashpal
Executive Manager

Mohammed F. 
Hamad
Executive Manager

Isa Al Duwaishan
Executive Manager

Mahmood G.
Al Mahmood
Senior Manager
Corporate Banking Group

Sara Zainalabedin
Senior Manager
Head of Human Resources

Abdulrahman
Abdulla
Senior Manager
Head of Shari’a Advisory





KFH-Bahrain   Annual Report 2018p16

The retail banking and finance services 
provided by KFH-Bahrain combine a broad 
range of innovative products and services 
with exceptional customer care. 

Retail Banking 
Group
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Innovation and Quality Shaping the Core of Retail Banking 
Services

KFH-Bahrain provides a broad range of retail banking 
services that combine innovative products with exceptional 
customer care. Our products and financing facilities cater 
to the long-term needs of customers, taking into account 
local market characteristics. Our growth is driven by a 
determination to continuously improve our service quality, 
while delivering superior Shari’a compliant products.

We constantly enhance our technology and services to 
provide greater access to information and funds, both 
locally and internationally, and launch unique, never 
before-seen products.

Jazeel is the Bank’s first FinTech initiative and paves the way 
for the next generation of financial services at your fingertips. 
As Jazeel community subscribers, clients can open a 
Jazeel savings account in minutes and will have access 
a portfolio of services anytime, anywhere, at their comfort 
and convenience. The customer onboarding experience 
is fully digitized though an E-KYC (electronic Know-Your-
Customer) process that can be done using smartphones. 
Jazeel also offers customers access to a suite of account 
management services without needing to visit a branch.

Our new Visa SmartPay credit card is Islamic Shari’a 
compliant and provides clients with a flexible and reliable 
way to manage their credit card payments. It operates 
the same way as a regular credit card, but outstanding 
amounts can be paid back through a monthly instalment 
plan of the customer’s choice between one – 36 months 
(Easy Payment Plan). This is a highly convenient option 
for clients wishing to make large purchases and repay 
them over a specific period within the card limits.

In addition to our new products, we remain committed 
to building on our more established offerings. Well into 
its sixth successful year, our Libshara Investment Savings 
account continues to enhance its selection of valuable 
prizes. In the 2017-2018 edition, account holders stood 
the chance to win one of nine luxurious apartments in 
Marassi Al Bahrain as well as instant monthly cash prizes. 
The account was recognized as the “Critics’ Choice Best 
Prize-linked Islamic Retail Investment Product” for 2017 
at the Islamic Retail Banking Awards by Cambridge IFA.

Our Wakala Investment Account is an innovative offering, 
designed according to the Islamic Shari’a principle of Al 
Wakala. The Bank invests in its general portfolio on the 
client’s behalf, at no charge, for a pre-promised anticipated 
profit rate, which is shared on a monthly basis. 

As part of the Wakala Profit Sharing Investment Accounts 
family, the Bank has introduced Wakala Flexi, a new 
long-term Flexible Wakala PSIA that allows customers 
to withdraw up to 20% of their investment without 
cancelling the investment account. Accordingly, profits 
are distributed based on the total average amount during 
the investment period and shared at the end of the period.

Clients can also travel the world with a host of benefits 
offered by our Signature, Gold, and Classic Credit 
Cards, including access to over 650 airport VIP lounges 
worldwide (for signature card only) and a multi-link 
option for frequent flyer air miles from Gulf Air, Etihad 
Airways, Turkish Airlines or British Airways. Additionally, 
cardholders can avail of attractive discounts from our 
retail partners and service providers. VISA recognised the 
Bank with the “Outstanding Performance for Credit Cards 
Issued in Bahrain 2017” award, which further reflects the 
market appeal of our credit cards.

The Mazaya Programme is a social housing finance 
scheme offered by KFH-Bahrain in partnership with the 
Ministry of Housing. It gives beneficiaries the opportunity 
to own their dream homes through a real estate finance 
facility subsidised by the Government of Bahrain. This 
programme, which is in line with the Bank’s commitment to 
social responsibility, enables us to assist the Government 
in meeting the growing housing demands of the country.

Our product, Tamweely is a first-of-its-kind Shari’a 
compliant Tawarruq personal finance facility. Structured 
as an international commodity murabaha (the commodity 
in this case being palm oil purchased from the Malaysia 
Bourse through an international brokerage partner), 
it allows our clients to experience every step of the 
Tawarruq process in real time. Tamweely was recognized 
as the “Best Personal Finance” and “Best New Retail 
Financial Product” at the CPI Financials Banker Middle 
East Product Awards Bahrain 2014 and maintains it 
popularity to this day.

KFH-Bahrain’s branches are strategically located for 
customer convenience and enable us to serve our clients 
throughout the Kingdom. In addition, new, state of- the-
art drive-through ATMs have been added to our network 
to further enhance the customer experience. Our ATMs in 
Dragon Mall have also been updated to include the Chinese 
language, allowing us to cater to our Chinese clientele.
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Private
Banking

KFH-Bahrain Private Banking department excels in 
personalizing premium services which are aligned to 
the personal and corporate needs of High Net-Worth 
Individuals, Family Offices and Private Corporations. 

The Advantages of Private Banking
At Private Banking our number one priority is to keep 
the client satisfied at all times. By capitalizing on the full 
range of the bank’s resources and tailoring solutions 
to suit individual needs and to develop investment 
strategies that can fulfill and target their financial 
objectives with ease and flexibility while ensuring 
that we maintain transparency in all our offerings and 
preserve the values of Islamic Banking.

Private Services
In addition to a full range of products, the advantages 
of the Private Banking relationship extends to a host of 
selective features that ensures the needs of our Private 
clients come first in today’s fast-paced world.
Private Banking clients are offered a multitude of 
service enhancements and Personalized care, which 
includes several premium benefits.

In 2018, Private Banking Department provided a host 
of new banking Shari’a compliant solutions such as 
Call account and Flexi-Wakala. 

Call Accounts
Call accounts provide a solution that combines the 
benefit of savings and current accounts into one 
product. The call account calculates the profit on daily 
basis and distribute the profits on a monthly basis to 
investors. Clients can open a call account in Bahraini 
dinars and / or US dollars. 

Wakala Investment Accounts
Wakala Investments accounts expands the choice of 
financial tools that can be invested in Bahraini dinars 
and/or US dollars. Profits are distributed to clients’ 
accounts on a monthly basis.

Wakala Flexi Investment Accounts
The new Flexi Wakala Investment accounts gives 
KFH-Bahrain clients the flexibility to withdraw up to 
20 % of the investment amount during the investment 
period. Clients can invest in Bahraini dinars and/or US 
dollars. Profits are distributed to the clients’ accounts 
at maturity.

At Private Banking, we work to make the financial needs 
and objectives of our clients our first priority. Delivered by a 
dedicated team of highly experienced relationship managers, 
KFH Bahrain Private Banking proudly offers its clients the highest 
quality of Shari’a Products & investment opportunities combined 
with superior financial advice and personalized services.



Wealth  
Management
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With a clear understanding of evolving market 
requirements, the department provides objective 
investment advisory services and best in class portfolio 
management services across all asset classes. These 
include strategic investment management solutions 
that deliver results aimed at exceeding clients’ 
expectations.

Strategic asset allocation, diversification, and a 
disciplined approach are crucial to preserve and grow 
clients’ wealth. Over the past 3 years, the department 
has successfully developed a unique suite of products 
and services that are in line with clients’ return 
expectations, liquidity needs, and risk profiles. The 
department has also developed innovative solutions 
for clients, giving them access to short-term financing 
against their portfolio without interrupting their asset 
allocation and long-term investment strategy.

The Wealth Management department provides a 
one-stop shop for clients with unique products and 
services across all major asset classes, enabling them 
to benefit from investment diversification. The products 
include Operational & Fixed Deposit Accounts, Sukuk, 
Leverage Sukuk, Restricted Investment Accounts (RIA), 
and Lombard Financing. In addition, the department 
collaborates with the Bank’s partner, KFH Capital, to 
give clients access to unique investment opportunities 
such as Equities, Income Generating Real Estate, and 
other alternative investments globally.

During 2018, KFH-Bahrain’s Wealth Management department 
consistently grew its assets under management and high net-
worth client base.
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Corporate Banking 
Group

The CBG’s comprehensive knowledge of business 
trends, and the unique characteristics and requirements 
of each sector, provide a solid foundation to capitalise 
on new opportunities. Accordingly, the CBG remains 
focused on introducing innovative new financing 
products that cater to evolving market needs. 

Through its strengthened partnership with Tamkeen, 
the CBG continues to provide effective financing 
solutions for Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
and is extending more support to both SMEs and 

large corporate segments, enabling them to reach new 
levels of production and profitability.

Mindful of current market conditions, the CBG remains 
committed to working closely with its clients to 
ensure a firm understanding of their changing needs 
and requirements. In line with this commitment to 
continuous improvement, the CBG is also proactively 
working to streamline many of its internal processes 
and procedures to ensure faster response times to all 
client enquiries and requests.

KFH–Bahrain continues to support the corporate sector of 
the country, aligning its growth targets with the Kingdom’s 
continuous development and progress. Leveraging its expertise 
in a broad range of market sectors, the Corporate Banking Group 
(CBG) is working diligently to attract new clients, diversify its 
portfolio, and improve the quality of its assets.
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Treasury & Capital 
Markets

In addition to overseeing KFH-Bahrain’s asset and 
liability management functions, the Treasury & Capital 
Markets Department manages institutional relationships 
with sovereign and quasi-sovereign entities. It is also 
committed to supporting the Kingdom’s sovereign and 
institutional funding requirements through the Bank’s 
sukuk portfolio and syndication activity. In 2018, KFH-
Bahrain continued to grow its sovereign sukuk portfolio 
and saw an impressive increase of 46% year-on-year, 
which supported the Bank’s profitability and liquidity 
profile.

Responsible for the management of treasury lines with 
financial institutions within the GCC and internationally, 
the Treasury & Capital Markets Department plays an 
active role in the development of the Bank’s financial 
institution counterparty network and has built a wide-
reaching network of interbank relationships. 

The Treasury & Capital Markets Department also 
maintains collaboration with KFH Group’s parent and 
sister companies within the scope of its mandated 
activity. In line with the mandate, the department 
structures Shari’a compliant hedging products, 
including FX Wa’ad and Cross Currency Swaps. 

Through its involvement in syndicated project financing, 
KFH-Bahrain supported key projects in the country 
during the year, including the Bapco Modernisation 
Programme, the Kingdom’s largest project undertaking 
to date with a total project value exceeding US$ 5 billion. 
The Bank also participated in a US$1.2bn refinancing 
transaction for Al Dur Power & Water Company, 
Bahrain’s largest operational Independent Water and 
Power Project.

In 2018, KFH-Bahrain continued to grow its sovereign sukuk 
portfolio and saw an impressive increase of 46% year-on-year, 
which supported the Bank’s profitability and liquidity profile.
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Investments 

During 2018, the Bank continued to focus on value-
creation within its investments in the Kingdom as well 
as profit realisation of the investment portfolio owned 
and managed by the Bank on behalf of the Group. 

In line with its strategy to redeploy funds into more 
profitable ventures and strengthen the Bank’s balance 
sheet, KFH-Bahrain continued to exit investments 
wherever possible. These efforts began in 2017 
following the transfer of the majority of its real estate 
investment assets to entities owned by KFH-Kuwait. 
This reduced real estate exposure and optimised the 
Bank’s capital structure, enabling it to focus on growing 
its core banking activities.

Following the transfer, the Bank continued to manage 
the portfolio and assisted the portfolio companies 
in succesfully conclusing a diverse range of deals, 
including initiating the handover of a high-quality 
Social Housing Project in Diyar Al Muharraq and the 
sale of waterfront villas in Durrat Al Bahrain. The Bank 
also advised on and supervised multiple asset sales 
by Diyar Al Muharraq during the year and its continued 
infrastructure works.

The Investments Department also continues to manage 
assets acquired as a result of financing settlements.

Key Owned Assets

Ishbiliya Village 
Ishbiliya Village is located in close proximity to 
downtown Manama. Featuring over 240 villas, it offers 
high-quality housing at competitive prices to meet the 
demands of Bahrain’s rapidly growing local population. 

Pre-construction activity for a second sub-development 
within Ishbiliya Village is currently underway. The 
project, in collaboration with Eskan Properties and 
under the Ministry of Housing scheme, Mazaya, 
features more than 400 social housing apartment units 
and is expected to launch in 2019. 

Jordan Portfolio
KFH-Jordan is an investment company established 
in 2008 in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. Its 
subsidiaries and associate companies own a diverse 
real estate portfolio, which ranges from plots of land 
throughout Jordan to high-end mixed-use towers in 
prime locations in Amman. The company completed 
the sale of all villas within its subsidiaries and initiated 
the sale of land plots to end-users and third party 
developers.

The Bank continued to focus on value-creation through 
realization of its investment portfolio with the aim to re-deploy 
the realization in a yielding asset base.
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KFH-Bahrain’s Approach to
Risk Management

KFH-Bahrain takes a prudent approach to risk 
management commensurate with the size and 
complexity of the Bank to protect various stakeholders’ 
interests and achieve the Board approved results. We 
pursue strategies that build long-term shareholder value, 
while meeting regulatory requirements and optimizing 
economic  capital. Our Risk Management framework 
enables us to proactively manage risks  in the life 
cycle of a financial transaction, including operating 
circumstances, from its origination to final disposal.

The Board manages risk by setting a comprehensive 
limit structure and aligning business and risk strategies 
to achieve targeted risk-adjusted returns. The Board 
Level Risk Committee (BRC) meets regularly to 
oversee the Bank-wide implementation of Board 
approved strategies, policies, and risk appetites. 
Through the Risk Management Committee, senior 
management develops and  implements  appropriate 
risk management and business processes to monitor 
and manage risks within parameters set by the Board.

The Bank enforces a culture of risk management across 
its business, control, and support units. The business 
units are front-line operators of risk management 
practices and the first line of control. The support and 
control units are the second-line of control for the risks 
taken by the business units. The Risk Management 
Group provides various risk management tools and an 
appropriate framework to the business and support 
units to help them manage risks within their areas. 
The audit function is responsible for independently 
assessing the controls and departments’ adherence 
to the Bank’s risk policies and procedures.
 

The Risk Management Group helps the Asset and 
Liability Committee (ALCO), the BRC, and the Board 
to make sound business and operating decisions by 
optimizing risk. Over the last few years, the Bank has 
put considerable effort into improving, monitoring, and 
gathering quality data into systems and formats that 
give a timely and meaningful picture of the risk profile.

Sophisticated and prudent models are periodically 
developed and refined to measure the  risks  taken 
and project their likely impact on the Bank’s business 
and operating goals. Tools such as scoring systems, 
stress test frameworks, the Internal Capital Adequacy 
and Assessment Programme (ICAAP) and others serve 
a vital role in this regard. The Bank also uses models 
for Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP) and risk-adjusted 
performance measurement tools, including Risk-
Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC), as essential 
elements for maximising risk-adjusted returns.

During 2018, the Bank continued to refine its risk 
management framework and processes to identify, 
monitor, and manage risks more effectively. It also 
utilised its IFRS 9/ FAS 30 impairment models to estimate 
forward-looking Expected Credit Losses (ECL).

The Bank has put in significant efforts in 2018 towards 
managing and improving the Bank’s asset quality. 
These efforts focused on improving internal credit 
processes, integrating decision making process, 
enforcing stricter risk/credit selection requirements, 
diversifying our portfolios, implementing innovative 
initiatives to align our clients’ interests with those 
of the Bank, ensuring closer monitoring of clients 
by business unit and others. The Bank’s philosophy 
towards the remedial management of problem credit 
accounts is to work closely with impacted clients 
by advising and working together to come up with 
mutually beneficial outcome.
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KFH-Bahrain believes that Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) and socio-economic development 
go hand in hand. Through its CSR programme, the 
Bank provides practical and financial support to 
initiatives that contribute to the Kingdom’s prosperity 
and enhance quality of life for its people.

The programme is in line with the Bank’s ethical values 
and is built around the pillars of Islamic banking and 
finance, sporting, and community. During 2018, KFH-
Bahrain also extended its support to other deserving 
causes, including charities, educational and cultural 
initiatives, and social events. In addition, it sponsored 
and participated in prominent banking-related events 
that promote the development of the financial sector 
and help drive economic progress.

Some of our CSR activities during the year include:

Supporting Islamic Banking and Finance

• Major Sponsor of two Annual Conferences of the 
Accounting and Auditing Organization of Islamic 
Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) in Bahrain

• Platinum Sponsor of the World Islamic Banking 
Conference (WIBC) in Bahrain

• Sponsored Epay Summit 
• Sponsored GCC Financial Forum
• Sponsored Islamic radio shows with the Ministry 

of Information Affairs
• Sponsored the Ministry of Industry, Commerce & 

Tourism consumer awareness videos
• Sponsored BIBF Islamic Finance Awareness 
 

Developing Tomorrow’s Sporting 
Champions

• Sponsored His Majesty the King’s Football Cup - 
Bahrain Football Association

• Sponsored the Khalid Bin Hamad Al Khalifa Initiatives
• Sponsored the Sh. Nasser Bin Hamad 2018-2019 

Football League 
• Sponsored Al Hidd Ramadan Football Tournament
• Sponsored Bahrain Handball Federation
• Sponsored Bahrain Basketball Association
• Sponsored Rashid Equestrian and Horse Racing Club
• Sponsored Bahrain Sports Federation for 

Disabilities
• Sponsored Bahrain Olympic Committee

Promoting Health, Education and 
Leadership 

• Sponsored the Shaikha Hessa Girls School.
• Sponsored the Kuwait National Day event, hosted 

by the Embassy of Kuwait 
• Sponsored Al Ayam Publishing B.S.C. - Annual 

Book Fair
• Sponsored Al Mabarrah Al Khalifia Foundation
• Sponsored Bahrain Society for Training & 

Development
 

 Community Support 

• Sponsored Bahrain International Airshow 
• Sponsored TAM Show
• Sponsored BAB CSR Conference
• Sponsored Bahrain International Garden Show 2018
• Sponsored Bahrain International Property 

Exhibition (BIPEX) 2018
• Sponsored Ramadan Islamic TV Lectures

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
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Fatwa & Shari’a Supervisory Board Report 

In the Name of Allah Most Gracious Most Merciful
Praise be to Allah, Almighty, and Prayers and Peace be upon Prophet Mohammed, his family and Companions

To: The Shareholders of Kuwait Finance House-Bahrain

Al Salam Alaikum Wa Rahmatu Allah Wa Barakatuh

In compliance with the letter of appointment, we are required to submit the following report:   

We have supervised the products and contracts relating the transactions and applications introduced by Kuwait 
Finance House – Bahrain (the Bank) during the period ended 31st Dec 2018. We have performed our supervision 
to form an opinion as to whether the Bank has complied with the Rules and Principles of Islamic Shari’a, as well as 
Fatwas, rules and guidelines issued by us.

Responsibility of Management
The Bank management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank conducts its business in accordance with the Rules 
and Principles of Islamic Shari’a. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion based on our review of the 
operations of the Bank and preparing a report for you.

Scope of work of the Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board 
Through the periodic reports provided by the head of Shari’a Department, The Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory 
Board (The Board) confirmed that the Bank did not violate the Provisions, Rules and Principles of Islamic Shari’a. 
The reports contained the results of reviewed, approved contracts and agreements and the results of the Bank 
operations reviewed on a random sample selection in accordance to the annual audit plan for the Shari’a 
Department which was approved by The Board including the field visits, supervision of the workflow from Shari’a 
viewpoint and implementation of Fatwa and decisions issued by us.

We planned and performed our supervision to obtain all the information and explanations, which we considered 
necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Bank did not violate the 
Rules and Principles of Islamic Shari’a.    
  
In our opinion
1. The contracts, transactions, and dealings entered into by the Bank during the year ended 31st December 

2018 that we have reviewed are in compliance with the provisions and principles of Islamic Shari’a.

2. The allocation of profits and charging of losses relating to investment accounts conform to the basis that had 
been approved by us in accordance with the provisions and principles of Islamic Shari’a.

3. All earnings that have been realized from sources or by means of prohibited by the Rules and Principles of 
Islamic Shari’a have been set aside in an independent account  and disposed of to charitable causes; and

4. The calculation of Zakat is in compliance with the Rules and Principles of Islamic Shari’a.

5. The Bank has committed to the Shari’a Principles, Fatawa and Directions given by us.  

The Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board approved the report based on the periodic reports provided by the 
Shari’a Department. 

The Board thanks the senior management, the departments and the staff of Kuwait Finance House - Bahrain for 
their cooperation and commitment to our decisions and guidelines and asks Allah Almighty to bring them success 
and rashad.

We pray to Allah Almighty to guide us to the righteous path.

 Sh. Dr. Mohammed Al-Tabatabaee Sh. Dr. Mubarak Jazaa Al-Harbi Sh. Dr. Anwar Shuaib Al-Abdulsalam 
 Chairman Member Member
 Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of Kuwait Finance House (Bahrain) 
B.S.C. (c) [the “Bank”] and its subsidiaries [together the “Group”] as of 31 December 2018, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, cash flows, changes in owners’ equity, and changes in off-balance sheet equity of investment 
account holders for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. These consolidated financial statements and the Group’s undertaking to operate in accordance with Islamic 
Shari’a Rules and Principles are the responsibility of the Group’s Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions issued by the Accounting 
and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions [“AAOIFI”]. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statements presentation. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Group as of 31 December 2018, the results of its operations, its cash flows, changes in equity and changes in off-
balance sheet equity of investment account holders for the year then ended in accordance with the Financial Accounting 
Standards issued by AAOIFI.

Other Matters
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain [“CBB”] Rule Book (Volume 
2), we report that:

a) the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in agreement 
therewith; and

b) the financial information contained in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements.

We are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of Bahrain and 
Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 2 and  applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, 
or the terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association having occurred during the year that might have 
had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial position; and satisfactory explanations and 
information have been provided to us by the management in response to all our requests. The Bank has also complied 
with the Islamic Shari’a Rules and Principles as determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank.

Partner’s registration no: 117
6 February 2019
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Shareholders of Kuwait Finance House (Bahrain) B.S.C. (c)

Independent Auditors Report
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Consolidated Financial
Statements
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   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks and Central Bank of Bahrain 7 49,651   66,962 
Due from banks 8 74,651  46,107 
Financing contracts  9  886,779   737,552 
Investments 10 6,304  7,747 
Investment in sukuk 11 219,039  157,065 
Investment in associates 12 12,885  12,599 
Receivables and other assets 13  250,353   272,856 
Premises and equipments  5,140  9,437 
TOTAL ASSETS  1,504,802  1,310,325 

LIABILITIES, EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS,
  AND OWNERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
    
Customers’ current accounts  127,748  135,098 
Due to banks 16 224,405   163,760 
Due to non-banks  367,176  234,933 
Other liabilities 18 23,946  23,101 
Subordinated wakala payable 19 94,250  94,250 
  837,525  651,142 
EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS 20  485,014  477,676 

OWNERS’ EQUITY
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent
Share capital 21 132,519  132,519 
Statutory reserve  21,613  19,768 
Fair value through equity reserve  170  -   
Proposed dividend  16,608   18,095 
Retained earnings  3,587  3,321 
  174,497  173,703 
Non-controlling shareholders   7,766   7,804
  182,263   181,507 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 
  HOLDERS AND OWNERS’ EQUITY  1,504,802   1,310,325

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS  135,110  135,080 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 23  73,191  135,078  

 Hamad Abdulmohsen AlMarzouq  Abdulhakeem Yaqoub Alkhayyat 
 Chairman of the  Managing Director and
 Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer 

The attached notes 1 to 40 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The attached notes 1 to 40 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income from financing contracts 24 52,321  42,944 

Income from investments 25 6,653  10,268 

Income from sukuk  11,245  6,979 

Share of income from associates  170  425 

Net (loss) revenue from non-banking business entities 27 (117)  500 

OPERATING INCOME  70,272  61,116 

Return on equity of investment account holders before Group’s share as mudarib   (14,245)  (11,554)

Group’s share as mudarib   7,666  6,311 

Return on equity of investment account holders   (6,579)  (5,243)

Profit on due to banks, due to non-banks and subordinated wakala payable 30  (18,551)  (11,599)

NET OPERATING INCOME  45,142  44,274

Staff costs  14,988  14,449 

Depreciation  1,180  1,011 

Provisions - net 28 459  1,243 

Other expenses 29 9,391  9,239 

Operating expenses of non-banking business entities 27 707  920 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   26,725  26,862 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   18,417  17,412

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net results for the year from discontinued operations 15 -  2,600 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR   18,417  20,012

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent   18,453  20,106 

Non-controlling shareholders  (36)  (94)

  18,417  20,012  

 Hamad Abdulmohsen AlMarzouq  Abdulhakeem Yaqoub Alkhayyat 
 Chairman of the  Managing Director and
 Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer 
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The attached notes 1 to 40 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000  BD 000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year from continuing operations   18,417  17,412 

Net results for the year from discontinued operations   -  2,600

Net income for the year   18,417  20,012 

Adjustments for:

  Share of income from associates   (170)  (425)

  Net (gain) on sale of investments 25  (309)  (8,719)

  Net unrealised (gain) on investments 25  (174)  (34)

  Net unrealised loss on investment in real estate   -  309 

  Dividend income 25  (39)  (82)

  Foreign exchange gain 25  (811)  (380)

  Rental income 25  -  (7)

  Depreciation   1,184  1,029 

  Provisions - net   626  (1,259)

Operating income before changes in operating assets and liabilities   18,724  10,444 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

  Mandatory reserve with Central Bank of Bahrain   (995)  (1,145)

  Due from banks   19,540  (12,292)

  Financing contracts   (149,003)  (86,950)

  Receivables and other assets   4,549   11,391 

  Customers’ current accounts   (7,350)  (12,532)

  Due to banks and financial institutions   60,645   (9,422)

  Customers’ murabaha accounts   132,243   11,388 

  Other liabilities   (48)  (15,537)

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities   78,305  (104,655)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Sale of investments - net   1,742  14,809 

(Purchase) sale of investment in sukuk - net   (60,337)  6,285 

Distributions from investment in associates   -  2,962 

Purchase of investment in real estate - net   -  (87)

Dividend income   39  82 

Rental income   -  7 

Disposal (purchase) of premises and equipment - net   3,114  (1,022)

Net cash flows (used in) from investing activities   (55,442)  23,036 

FINANCING ACTIVITY

Net movement in equity of investment account holders   7,338  36,432 

Net cash flows from financing activity   7,338  36,432

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   30,201  (45,187)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January    58,500  103,687

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  31  88,701  58,500  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

 Attributable to shareholders of the parent

            
      Fair value  Foreign    
      through Property currency    Non- Total
 Share Share Treasury Statutory General equity fair value translation Retained Proposed  controlling owners’
 capital premium shares reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings dividend Total stakeholders  equity
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balance at 1 January
  2018 132,519 - - 19,768 - - - - 3,321 18,095 173,703 7,804 181,507

Net income for the year - - - - - - - - 18,453 - 18,453 (36) 18,417 

Other comprehensive
  income for the year
  (note 22) - - - - - 436 - - - - 436 - 436 

Total comprehensive
  income for the year - - - - - 436 - - 18,453 - 18,889 (36) 18,853 

Dividend payout - - - - - - - - - (18,095) (18,095) - (18,095)

Net transfer from fair
  value through equity
  reserve - - - - - (266) - -  266 - - - -   

Transfer to statutory reserve - - - 1,845 - - - - (1,845) - - - -   

Proposed dividend (note 21) - - - - - - - - (16,608) 16,608 - - -   

Net movement in share
  of non-controlling
  shareholders - - - - - - -  - - - - (2) (2)

Balance at
  31 December 2018 132,519 - - 21,613 - 170 - - 3,587 16,608 174,497 7,766 182,263

Balance at 1 January
  2017 177,140 71,403 (21,923) 17,757 28,237 (3,574) 30,923 (91) 60,403 - 360,275 8,316 368,591

Net income for the year - - - - - - - - 20,106 - 20,106 (94) 20,012 

Other comprehensive
  income for the year
  (note 22) - - - - - 3,231 - 91 - - 3,322 - 3,322

Total comprehensive
  income for the year - - - - - 3,231 - 91 20,106 - 23,428 (94) 23,334 

Cancellation of treasury
  shares (12,044) (9,879) 21,923 - - - - - - - - - -   

Distributions (32,577) (61,524) - - (28,237) 77 (30,900) - (56,839) - (210,000) - (210,000)

Net transfer from fair
  value through equity
  reserve - - - - - 266 - - (266) - - - -   

Net transfer from property
  fair value reserve - - - - - - (23) - 23 - - - -   

Transfer to statutory reserve - - - 2,011 - - - - (2,011) - - - -   

Proposed dividend (note 21) - - - - - - - - (18,095) 18,095 - - -   

Net movement in share
  of non-controlling
  shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - (418) (418)

Balance at
  31 December 2017 132,519 - - 19,768 - - - - 3,321 18,095 173,703 7,804 181,507 

The attached notes 1 to 40 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Balance at     Balance at
 1 January Additional Gross Mudarib Withdrawals / 31 December
 2018 Investments Income Share distributions 2018
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha contracts   135,080  99,375 9,198 (2,348) (106,195) 135,110   

 Balance at     Balance at
 1 January Additional Gross Mudarib Withdrawals / 31 December
 2017 Investments Income Share distributions 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha contracts   134,970 107,915 8,259 (2,692) (113,372) 135,080  

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Off-Balance 
Sheet Equity of Investment Account Holders
For the year ended 31 December 2018

The attached notes 1 to 40 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Financial Statements
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1  CORPORATE INFORMATION AND ACTIVITIES

Kuwait Finance House (Bahrain) B.S.C. (c) (the “Bank”) is a closed joint stock company incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain 
on 22 January 2002 under the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law No. 21/2001 and is registered with the Ministry of Industry 
and Commerce under commercial registration (CR) number 48128. The Bank is regulated and supervised by the Central Bank 
of Bahrain (the “CBB”) and has an Islamic retail banking license. The Bank operates under Islamic principles and in accordance 
with all the relevant regulatory guidelines for Islamic banks issued by the CBB. The address of the Bank’s registered office is 
World Trade Centre, road number 365, Building number 1B, Block 316, P.O. Box 2066, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The Bank offers a full range of Islamic banking services and products. The activities of the Bank include accepting Shari’a 
compliant money placements / deposits, managing Shari’a compliant profit sharing investment accounts, offering Shari’a 
compliant financing contracts, dealing in Shari’a compliant financial instruments as principal / agent, managing Shari’a 
compliant financial instruments and other activities permitted under the CBB’s Regulated Islamic Banking Services as defined 
in the licensing framework.

The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of Kuwait Finance House K.S.C.P. (the “Ultimate Parent”), a public company incorporated 
in the State of Kuwait and listed at the Kuwait Stock Exchange. The Ultimate Parent is regulated and supervised by the Central 
Bank of Kuwait. The Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board is entrusted to ensure the Group’s adherence to Shari’a rules and 
principles in its transactions and activities. 

The Bank and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) operate in the Kingdom of Bahrain and Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. The 
activities of the Bank’s key subsidiaries are mentioned in note 5.

The Bank has nine branches (2017: ten), all operating in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
passed on 6 February 2019.

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1  Accounting Convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for investment in real 
estate, managed funds and equity securities that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Bahraini Dinars (“BD”) which is the functional and presentation currency of the Bank. All the values are rounded to 
the nearest BD thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

2.2  Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards 
(“FAS”) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (“AAOIFI”), the Shari’a rules and 
principles as determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank, the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central 
Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 2 and  applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB 
directives. For matters not covered by FAS, the Group uses the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

2.3  Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the  financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 
each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent 
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and continue to be consolidated until 
the date when such control ceases. Control is achieved where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year, if 
any, are included in the consolidated statement of income from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate. 
A change in the Group’s ownership of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Share of non-controlling shareholders represents the portion of net income and net assets not held by the Group and are 
presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and within owners’ equity in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, separately from the equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent. Transactions with the non-controlling interest are 
handled in the same way as transactions with external parties.

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The most significant uses of judgments 
and estimates are as follows:

3.1 Going concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 
the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of 
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, 
the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

3.2 Fair value of unquoted equity securities
Fair value is determined for each investment individually in accordance with the valuation policies set out in note 4.24. Where the 
fair values of the Group’s unquoted equity securities cannot be derived from an active market, they are derived using a variety 
of valuation techniques. Judgment by management is required to establish fair values through the use of appropriate valuation 
models, consideration of comparable assets, discount rates and the assumptions used to forecast cash flows.

3.3 Impairment provisions against financing contracts
In determining impairment on receivables, judgment is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows 
as well as an assessment of whether credit risk on the financial contract has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and incorporation of forward-looking information in the measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”). Refer to note 4.1 for 
further details.

3.4 Impairment of investments at fair value through equity
The Group treats investments carried at fair value through equity as impaired when there is a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ requires judgment. The Group evaluates factors, such as the historical share price volatility for comparable quoted 
equities and future cash flows and the discount factors for comparable unquoted equities.

3.5 Liquidity
The Group manages its liquidity through consideration of the maturity profile of its assets, liabilities and equity of investment 
account holders which is set out in the liquidity risk disclosures in note 36.3. This requires judgment when determining the 
maturity of assets and liabilities with no specific maturities.

4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

4.1 Early adoption of FAS 30 - Impairment, Credit Losses and Onerous Commitments (“FAS 30”)
The Group has early adopted FAS 30, effective from 1 January 2018 which has a mandatory date of initial application of 1 
January 2020. The requirements of FAS 30 represent a significant change from FAS 11 “Provisions and Reserves”.

As permitted by FAS 30, the standard has been applied retrospectively and the comparative amounts have not been restated. 
The early adoption of FAS 30 has not resulted in any adjustment to the opening retained earnings in the consolidated statment 
of changes in equity. The standard eliminates the use of the existing FAS 11 incurred loss impairment model approach.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.1 Early adoption of FAS 30 - Impairment, Credit Losses and Onerous Commitments (“FAS 30”) (continued)

Transition 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of FAS 30 have been applied retrospectively, except comparative 
periods which have not been restated. No differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities have resulted 
from the adoption of FAS 30 which require adjustment in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the 
information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements of FAS 30 and therefore is not comparable to the information 
presented for 2018 under FAS 30.

Impact of adopting FAS 30
Following is the impact of early adoption of FAS 30:

    Restated
 Balance 31   balance
 December  Transition 1 January
 2017  adjustment 2018
 BD 000 BD 000  BD 000

Cash and balances with banks and Central Bank of Bahrain  66,962 (249)  66,713 

Due from banks  46,107 (27)  46,080 

Financing contracts  737,552 840  738,392 

Investment in sukuk  157,065 (25)  157,040 

Receivables and other assets  272,856 (33)  272,823 

Other liabilities  23,101 506  23,607 

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of FAS 30 are summarized in note 4.2 (b).

4.2 Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Financial contracts
Financial contracts consist of balances with banks and the Central Bank of Bahrain, Due from banks, Sukuk, Murabaha financing 
(net of deferred profits), Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, Musharaka, other assets, financing commitments and financial guarantee 
contracts. Balances relating to these contracts are stated net of allowance for credit losses.

b) Impairment assessment (policy applicable from 1st January 2018)

Impairment of financial assets
FAS 30 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in FAS 11 with Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) model. The new impairment model also 
applies to certain financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not to equity investments. 

The Group applies three-stage approach to measure ECL on financial assets carried at amortised cost. Assets migrate through 
the following three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Stage 1: Twelve months ECL
For exposures where there has not been a Significant Increase in Credit Risk (“SICR”), since initial recognition, a portion of the 
lifetime ECL associated with the probability of default events occurring within next twelve months is recognised.

Twelve-month ECL (Stage 1) is the portion of ECL that results from probable default events on a financial contract within twelve 
months after the reporting date.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired
For credit exposures where there has been a SICR since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired, a lifetime ECL is recognised.

Lifetime ECL (Stage 2) is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and is determined based on the difference between the 
present value of all cash shortfalls. The cash shortfall is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
and the present value of the recoverable amount, for financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date. 
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b) Impairment assessment (policy applicable from 1st January 2018) (continued)

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired
Financial contracts are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset have occurred. 

For Stage 3 financial contracts, the provisions for credit-impairment are determined based on the difference between the net 
carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the financial contract. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. Evidence 
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; and

-  probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s net carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit 
losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Financing contracts together with the associated provisions are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated 
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced in the consolidated statement of income.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective profit rate. If a financial 
asset has a variable profit rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective profit rate. The 
calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that 
may result from foreclosure less costs of obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the following variables:

- Probability of Default (PD);
- Loss Given Default (LGD); and
- Exposure At Default (EAD).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed models and other historical data. These are adjusted to reflect 
forward-looking information as described below.

Probability of default 
Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Group collects 
performance and default information about its credit risk exposures. The Group employs statistical models for analysing the 
data collected and generate estimates of PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of 
time. This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and changes in 
key macro-economic factors, across various geographies in which the Bank has taken exposures. For most exposures, the key 
macro-economic indicators include gross domestic product (GDP) growth, profit rate benchmarks, oil prices and equity prices. 
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (policy applicable from 1st January 2018) (continued)

Incorporation of forward - looking information
The Group employs statistical models to incorporate macro-economic factors on historical default rates. In case none of 
the macro-economic parameters are statistically significant or the results of forecasted PDs are significantly deviated from 
the present forecast for the economic conditions, quantitative PD overlay shall be used by the management after analyzing 
the portfolio.

Incorporating forward-looking information increases the level of judgment as to how changes in these macroeconomic 
factors will affect the ECL applicable to the stage 1 and stage 2 exposures which are considered as performing (Stage 3 
are the exposures under default category). The methodologies and assumptions involved, including any forecasts of future 
economic conditions, are reviewed periodically.

Loss Given Default 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the history of market 
recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties and collaterals held, based on historical data using both internal and 
external factors including hair cuts.

Exposure At Default 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the 
counterparty and potential changes to the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD of 
a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For financing commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD is converted to 
consolidated statement of financial position equivalents.

Significant Increase in Credit Risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial contracts has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit 
assessment including forward-looking information. 

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary on a portfolio level and include quantitative and 
qualitative factors, including days past due and risk rating.

Renegotiated financial assets
The contractual terms of a financing may be modified for a number of reasons including changing market conditions.

The Group considers renegotiated financing to customers due to financial difficulties as one of the reasons for determining the 
significant increase in credit risk. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and documenting the agreement of 
new conditions for providing finance. Management continuously reviews renegotiated facilities to ensure that all criteria are met 
and that future payments are likely to occur. 

The accounts which are performing prior to renegotation but renegotiated due to financial difficulty are categorised under stage 
2.  The accounts that are non-performing or meet any criteria for classifying as non-performing (prior to renegotation), then such 
renegotiated accounts are categorised under stage 3. 

Backward transition
FAS 30 staging model is of symmetrical nature as exposures may migrate from lifetime ECL measurement (Stage 2 and Stage 
3) to 12 month ECL measurement (Stage 1).  Once such indicators are no longer triggered, movement back to Stage 1 or Stage 
2 are subject to certain criteria such as cooling off period, SICR indicators and payment history, where applicable.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (policy applicable from 1st January 2018) (continued)

Credit Conversion Factor
The estimation of EAD takes into account any unexpected changes in the exposure after the assessment date, including 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities through the application of a credit conversion factor (CCF). The EAD is estimated 
using the outstanding exposure adjusted by CCF times undrawn portion of the facilities. In case of financial guarantee and 
outstanding letters of credit, EAD is estimated as CCF times the committed amount.

The outstanding exposure is equivalent to the principal outstanding and accrued profit outstanding. The undrawn portion refers 
to the portion of the unutilized credit limit. 

Write-offs
Financing contracts are written-off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the 
case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written-off could still be subject to 
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Presentation of allowance for credit losses in the consolidated statement of financial position
Allowance for credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets; and

- financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally as a provision in other liabilities.

- where a financial contract includes both a drawn and undrawn component, and the Group has identified the ECL on 
the financing commitments / off-balance sheet component separately from those on the drawn component, the Group 
presents allowance for credit losses for drawn components. The amount is presented as a deduction from the gross 
carrying amount of the drawn component. Allowance for credit losses for the undrawn component is presented as a 
provision in other liabilities. 

c) Impairment assessment (policy applicable up to 31st December 2017)
Prior to adoption of FAS 30, the Group reviewed its financing contracts at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment 
provision should be recorded in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, judgment by management was required in 
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provision required. Such estimates 
were based on assumptions about factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty and actual results could differ 
resulting in future changes to the provisions.

In addition to impairment against individually impaired financing contracts, the Group also made a collective impairment 
provision against exposures which, although not specifically identified as requiring an individual impairment, had a greater risk 
of default than when originally granted. That took into consideration factors such as any deterioration in country risk, industry, 
and other relevant factors.

4.3 Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 
entity are measured using that functional currency.

(i) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency using the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange 
ruling at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of 
income with the exception of all monetary items that provide an effective protection for a net investment in a foreign operation. 
These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i) Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the dates of the initial recognition. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary items classified 
as “fair value through statement of income” are taken to the consolidated statement of income and for items classified as “fair 
value through equity” such differences are taken to the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. Any goodwill 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at closing rate.

(ii) Group companies
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s presentation currency (Bahraini 
Dinars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, and their statements 
of income are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the cumulative amount recognised in 
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign subsidiary is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income. 

4.4 Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Date of recognition
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initial and subsequent measurement of financial instruments
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose and the management’s intention for which 
the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value 
plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through statement of income. 

(i) Due from banks
Murabahas are international commodity murabaha transactions. The Bank arranges a murabaha transaction by buying a 
commodity (which represents the object of the murabaha) and then resells this commodity to the beneficiary murabeh (after 
computing a profit margin). The sale price (cost plus the profit margin) is paid either lump sum at maturity or in installments by 
the murabeh over the agreed period.

Murabaha with banks are stated net of deferred profits and provision for impairment, if any. Wakala with banks are stated at 
cost less provision for impairment, if any.

(ii) Financing contracts

(a) Murabaha
Murabaha represents the sale of goods at cost plus an agreed profit. Murabaha receivables are stated net of deferred profits, 
any amounts written off and provision for impairment, if any. Promise made in the murabaha to the purchase orderer is not 
obligatory upon the customer.

(b) Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek
Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek mainly comprise of land and buildings and certain other assets. Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek is a 
lease whereby the legal title of the leased asset passes to the lessee at the end of the ijarah (lease term), provided that all ijarah 
installments are settled.

Assets under Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek are initially recognised at cost and subsequently depreciated at rates calculated to 
write off the cost of each asset over its useful life to its residual value.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement(continued)

(ii) Financing contracts (continued)

(c) Musharaka
Musharaka represents a partnership between the Group and a customer whereby each party contributes to the capital in equal 
or varying proportions to establish a new project or share in an existing one, and whereby each of the parties becomes an owner 
of the capital on a permanent or declining basis and shall have a share of profits or losses. These are stated at the fair value of 
consideration given less any amounts written off and provision for impairment, if any.

(iii) Investments
Investments are classified as follows:
- Investments at fair value through statement of income 

- Investments at fair value through equity

- Investments at amortised cost

(a) Investments at fair value through statement of income
Investments at fair value through statement of income include investments held for trading and investments designated upon initial 
recognition as investments at fair value through statement of income.

An investment is classified as held for trading if acquired or originated principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-
term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin. Any investments that form part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-
term profit taking are also classified as ‘held for trading’.

The Group also utilises the exemption available in accordance with IAS 28 and FAS 24 as applicable to venture capital organisations 
and classifies such investments in joint ventures and associates as “investments at fair value through statement of income”. 
Financial assets carried at fair value through statement of income are recognised at fair value, with transaction costs recognised in 
the consolidated statement of income.

Investments classified as ‘fair value through statement of income’ are subsequently measured at fair value. The unrealised gains 
and losses arising from the remeasurement to fair value are included in the consolidated statement of income.

(b) Investments at fair value through equity
Investments at fair value through equity are those which are designated as such or are not classified as carried at fair value through 
statement of income or at amortised cost. These include investments in equity securities and managed funds.

Investments at fair value through equity are subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in 
statement of comprehensive income. When the investment is disposed of or determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss, previously transferred to the fair value through equity reserve, is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Where 
the Group holds more than one investment in the same security they are deemed to be disposed of on a weighted average basis.

(c) Investments at amortised cost
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as such when the Group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, these investments are measured at amortised 
cost, less impairment. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income under ‘provisions’. 

(iv) Equity of investment account holders
Equity of investment account holders is invested in due from banks, sukuk and financing contracts. No priority is granted to any 
party for the purpose of distribution of profits. According to the terms of acceptance of the investment account holders funds, 
100% of these funds are invested after deductions of mandatory reserve and sufficient operational cash requirements.  

Equity of investment account holders is carried at fair value of consideration received less amounts settled. Expenses are allocated 
to investment accounts in proportion of average equity of investment account holders to average assets, however, investment  
assets and related expenses are excluded.

Income is allocated proportionately between equity of investment account holders and owners’ equity on the basis of the average 
balances outstanding during the year and share of the funds invested.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
where:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

- the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: (a) has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the assets, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.

(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

4.6 Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group 
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost
The Group applies three-stage approach to measure ECL on financial assets carried at amortised cost as required by FAS 11 
with Expected Credit Loss model explained above.

(ii) Investments at fair value through equity
For investments at fair value through equity, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that 
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as “fair value through equity”, objective evidence would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss 
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on that investment 
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is removed from fair value through equity reserve 
and recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through 
the consolidated statement of income; increases in their fair value subsequent to impairment are recognised directly in equity.

4.7 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.8 Recognition of income and expense

(i) Income recognition

(a) Murabaha
Where the income is quantifiable and contractually determined at the commencement of the contract, income is recognised 
on a time-apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal amounts outstanding. Accrual of income is 
suspended when the Group believes that the recovery of these amounts may be doubtful. 

(b) Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek
Ijarah income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis, net of depreciation, over the lease term. Accrual of income is 
suspended when the Group believes that the recovery of these amounts may be doubtful.

(c) Musharaka
Income on musharaka contracts is recognised when the right to receive payment is established or on distribution by the 
musharek.

(d) Dividends
Dividends from investments in equity securities are recognised when the right to receive the payment is established. 

(e) Fees and commission income
Fees and commission income is recognised when earned.

(f) Revenue from sale of real estate
Revenue on sale of real estate is recognised when all of the following conditions are met:

- A sale is consummated and contracts are signed;

- The buyer’s investment, as of the date of financial statements, is adequate (25% and above) to demonstrate a commitment 
to pay for the property; and

- The Group has transferred to the buyer the risks and rewards of ownership in a transaction that is in substance a sale and 
does not have a substantial continuing involvement with the property.

Where property is under development and agreement has been reached to sell such property when construction is complete, 
the Group considers whether the contract comprises:

- contract to construct a property; or

- contract for the sale of a completed property.

Where a contract is determined to be a construction contract, revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion 
method as construction progresses. The percentage of work complete is measured based on the costs incurred up until the 
end of the reporting period as a proportion of total costs expected to be incurred.

Where the contract is judged to be for the sale of a completed property, revenue is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property are transferred to the buyer.

(g) Service income
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the services are rendered.

(h) Revenue from sale of goods 
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to 
the buyer and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

(i) Group’s share as a mudarib
The Group’s share as a mudarib for managing the equity of investment account holders is accrued based on the terms and 
conditions of the related mudaraba agreements whereas, for off balance sheet equity of investment account holders, mudarib 
share is recognised when distributed.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.8 Recognition of income and expense (continued)

(ii) Expense recognition

(a) Profit on due to banks and non-banks
Profit on these is accrued on a time-apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal amounts outstanding.

(b) Return on equity of investment account holders
Return on equity of investment account holders is based on the income generated from jointly financed assets after deducting 
mudarib share and is accrued based on the terms and conditions of the underlying mudaraba agreement. Investors’ share of 
income represents income generated from assets financed by investment account holders net of allocated operating expenses 
excluding investment related expenses. The Group’s share of profit is deducted from the investors’ share of income before 
distribution to investors.

4.9 Investment in associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to an associate is included 
in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 
amount in the consolidated statement of income.

The consolidated statement of income reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been an 
income or expense recognised in the other comprehensive income of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any such 
income or expense, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Gains and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of stake in the associate.

The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and their accounting policies conform to those used by the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. In case of any difference in the associates’ accounting policies, 
their results are adjusted to bring them in line with the Group accounting policies.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair 
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the 
retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

Unrealised losses resulting from re-measurement at fair value of investment in real estate are adjusted in equity against the 
property fair value reserve, to the extent of the available credit balance of this reserve. In case such losses exceed the available 
balance, the unrealised losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. In case there are unrealised losses 
relating to investment in real estate that have been recognised in the consolidated statement of income in a previous financial 
period, the unrealised gains relating to the current financial period are recognised in the consolidated statement of income to 
the extent of crediting back such previous losses in the consolidated statement of income.

Realised gains or losses resulting from the sale of any investment in real estate are measured as the difference between the carrying value 
and the net cash or cash equivalent proceeds from the sale for each investment separately. The resulting gain or loss together with the 
available balance in the property fair value reserve is recognised in the consolidated statement of income for the current financial period.

Investment in real estate under construction is measured at cost until the construction is completed. Once the construction is 
completed and the property is ready for its intended use, it is measured at its fair value.

Investments in real estate are derecognised when they have been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of these real estate 
investments are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal. 

Transfers are made to investment in real estate when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner 
occupation or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers are made from investment in real estate when, and only when, there 
is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.10 Premises and equipment
Premises and equipment are stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment in value, if any. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of premises and equipment to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

 Years

Premises 20

Hardware, software and equipment 1.5 - 7

Motor vehicles and office furniture 5 - 7

An item of premises and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is 
derecognised.

4.11 Intangible assets
Intangible assets include the value of license rights. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at 
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset maybe impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at 
least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income. Amortisation of license rights is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the 
cost of these intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives of 4 - 25 years.

4.12 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date or more frequently whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount 
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for subsequent 
increase in its recoverable amount in future periods. 

4.13 Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group provides financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and 
acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value in ‘other 
liabilities’ being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured 
at the higher of the amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising 
as a result of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recognised in the consolidated statement of income under 
‘provisions’. The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a straight line basis over the life 
of the guarantee.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.14 Treasury shares 
Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in share premium.

4.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. 

4.16 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker (CODM). CODM is a person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating 
segments of the entity. The Group has determined the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer as its CODM.

4.17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with banks and the Central Bank of Bahrain (excluding mandatory 
reserve) and due from banks with original maturity of 90 days or less.

4.18 Employees’ end of service benefits
Provision is made for leaving indemnity payable under the Bahraini Labor Law applicable to non-Bahraini employees’ 
accumulated periods of service at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

Bahraini employees of the Group are covered by contributions made to the Social Insurance Organisation (“SIO”) as a percentage 
of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. For 
Bahrainis with basic salaries above a certain threshold, the Bank recognises leaving indemnity in line with the requirements of 
Bahrain Labour Law.

4.19 Off-balance sheet equity of investment account holders
Off-balance sheet equity of investment account holders represents funds received by the Bank on the basis of mudaraba to be 
invested in specified products as directed by the investment account holders. The assets funded by these funds are managed 
in a fiduciary capacity by the Bank for which the Bank earns mudarib share which is disclosed as part of ‘income from financing 
contracts’. These assets are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group does not have the 
right to use or dispose of them except within the conditions laid down in the underlying mudaraba contract.

4.20 Earnings prohibited by Shari’a
The Group is committed to avoid recognising any income generated from non-Islamic sources. Accordingly, all non-Islamic 
income is transferred to charity. 

4.21 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate 
is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on an individual basis.  
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and an allowance applied 
according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical selling prices.

4.22 Assets classified as held for sale
The Group classifies assets as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale rather than 
through continuing use. Such assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant 
changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan, expected 
within one year from the date of the classification.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.22 Assets classified as held for sale (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the statement of financial position.

Results from discontinued operations are presented as a single amount in the consolidated statement of income.

Assets which ceases to be classified as held for sale are consolidated on a line by line basis. Prior period balances are re-
presented.

4.23 Repossessed assets
Repossessed assets are assets acquired in settlement of financing contracts with customers. These assets are carried at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and reported within “receivables and other assets” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

4.24 Fair value of financial instruments
The Group measures financial instruments and non-financial assets such as investment in real estate, at fair value at the date 
of statement of financial position. Fair values of financial intruments are disclosed in note 34.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabilty in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Observable 
data used along with the Group’s approach to determining fair values of financial instruments and quantitative disclosure are 
disclosed in note 34. 

4.25 Taxation
There is no tax on corporate income in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Taxation on overseas operations is provided for in accordance 
with the fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group operates and is included in the accompanying 
consolidated statement of income under “other operating expenses.

4.26 Zakah
In accordance with the instructions of the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank, payment of Zakah is the responsibility of the 
shareholders of the Bank. Accordingly, no Zakah has been charged to these consolidated financial statements.

4.27 Provision for onerous contract or commitment to acquire an asset
The Group will recognize provision when the Group is obligated to acquire an asset under a future commitment or contracts 
permissible to be entered in the future, and it is expected that the obligation under the contract or commitment is higher than 
the economic benefits expected to flow through acquisition of such asset. In such situation, the Group will create a provision 
on this account reflecting the expected losses arising on such transaction.
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4  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.28 New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

FAS 28 Murabaha and other deferred payment sales 
This standard prescribes the accounting and reporting principles and requirements for Murabaha and deferred payment sales 
transactions and different elements of such transaction. This standard supersedes the earlier FAS 2 “Murabaha and Murabaha 
to the Purchase Orderer” and FAS 20 “Deferred Payment Sale”. This standard shall be effective beginning on or after 1 January 
2019, with early adoption permitted.

FAS 31 Investment Agency (Al-Wakala Bi Al-Istithmar)
This standard intends to define the accounting principles and reporting requirements for investment agency (Al-Wakala Bi 
Al-Istithmar) transactions and instruments, in the hands of both the principal and the agent. This standard shall be effective 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with early adoption permitted.

The Board of Directors expects that the adoption of the above standards will have no material impact on the financial statements 
of the Bank in the year of initial application.

5  LIST OF KEY SUBSIDIARIES

Key subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year end, are listed below.

Subsidiary Year of
incorporation

Country of 
incorporation

Ownership %

2018 2017

Kuwait Finance House - Jordan
The company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment 
advisory and investments in private equities and real estate 
development.

2007
Hashemite 
Kingdom of 

Jordan
 100.00  100.00 

Ishbiliya Village W.L.L.
The principal activity of the company is to invest in and develop 
real estate projects and consequently buying, selling and 
marketing of such properties. 

2005
Kingdom of 

Bahrain
 100.00  100.00 
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6  CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT BASIS

The Group’s financial instruments have been classified in accordance with their measurement basis as follows:

  Financial
  assets at Financial Financial Financial
  fair value assets at assets at liabilities
  through fair value cost/ at cost/
  statement through amortised amortised 
  of income equity cost cost Total
At 31 December 2018  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 
  and Central Bank of Bahrain  - - 49,651 - 49,651
Due from banks  - - 74,651 - 74,651
Financing contracts  - - 886,779 - 886,779
Investments  1,562 4,742 - - 6,304
Investment in sukuk  - - 219,039 - 219,039
Receivables and other assets  - - 212,552 - 212,552
  1,562 4,742 1,442,672 - 1,448,976

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF
  INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS
Customers’ current accounts  - - - 127,748 127,748
Due to banks  - - - 224,405 224,405
Due to non-banks  - - - 367,176 367,176
Other liabilities  - - - 23,737 23,737
Subordinated wakala payable  - - - 94,250 94,250
Equity of investment account holders  - - - 485,014 485,014
  - - - 1,322,330 1,322,330

  Financial
  assets at Financial Financial Financial
  fair value assets at assets at liabilities
  through fair value cost/ at cost/
  statement through amortised amortised 
  of income equity cost cost Total
At 31 December 2017  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 
  and Central Bank of Bahrain  - - 66,962 - 66,962
Due from banks  - - 46,107 - 46,107
Financing contracts  - - 737,552 - 737,552
Investments  3,125 4,622 - - 7,747
Investment in sukuk  - - 157,065 - 157,065
Receivables and other assets  - - 226,386 - 226,386
  3,125 4,622 1,234,072 - 1,241,819

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF
  INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS
Customers’ current accounts   - - - 135,098 135,098 
Due to banks   - - - 163,760 163,760 
Due to non-banks   - - - 234,933 234,933 
Other liabilities   - - - 21,632 21,632 
Subordinated wakala payable   - - - 94,250 94,250
Equity of investment account holders  - - - 477,676 477,676
  - - - 1,127,349 1,127,349
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7  CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS AND CENTRAL BANK OF BAHRAIN

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000  BD 000

Cash  9,780 9,795

Balances with banks   6,589 19,573

Balance with CBB  1,828 7,134

CBB mandatory reserve 7.1 31,455 30,460

Less: allowance for credit losses  (1) -

 7.2 49,651 66,962

7.1  This mandatory reserve is not available for use in the Group’s day to day operations.

7.2  This balance includes BD 15,650 thousand (2017: BD 27,516 thousand) financed by investment account holders’ funds.

8  DUE FROM BANKS

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha  24,818 27,370

Wakala  50,368 18,850

  75,186 46,220

Impairment provision  (535) (113)

  74,651 46,107

This balance includes BD 12,416 thousand (2017: BD 18,395 thousand) financed by investment account holders’ funds. Due 
from banks carry profit rates ranging from 0.78% to 3.30% per annum (2017: 0.60% to 3.44% per annum).

9  FINANCING CONTRACTS

 31 December 2018

   Ijarah  
   Muntahia 
 Murabaha Musharaka Bittamleek Total
Self financed BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Stage 1: 12-month ECL 176,498  121 225,439  402,058 

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 19,060 - 37,874  56,934 

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL credit-impaired 16,438 40 26,712  43,190 

Total allowance for credit losses (6,380) (31) (5,562)  (11,973)

  205,616 130 284,463  490,209

31 December 2017 (Audited) 159,920 291 207,448  367,659
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9  FINANCING CONTRACTS (continued)

 31 December 2018
   Ijarah  
   Muntahia 
 Murabaha  Musharaka  Bittamleek Total
Financed through investment account holders’ funds BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Stage 1: 12-month ECL 142,821 - 182,424 325,245

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 15,423 - 30,647 46,070

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL credit-impaired 13,302 - 21,616 34,918

Total allowance for credit losses (5,162) - (4,501) (9,663)

 166,384 - 230,186 396,570

31 December 2017 (Audited) 158,707 - 218,620 377,327

31 December 2017 (Audited) - Collective impairment provision - total    (7,434)

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the customer’s past due status 
and year end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

  31 December
 31 December 2018 2017

  Stage 2: 
  Lifetime Stage 3:
 Stage 1: ECL not Lifetime
 12-month credit ECL credit-  
 ECL impaired impaired Total Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Not past due 727,303 100,314 4,251 831,868 619,413

1 to 89 days past due - 2,690 1,052 3,742 80,345

90 days or more past due - - 72,805 72,805 69,217

Total allowance for credit losses (2,638) (13,337) (5,661) (21,636) (31,423)

 724,665 89,667 72,447 886,779 737,552

Movements in allowance for credit losses on financing contracts

   Stage 2: 
   Lifetime Stage 3:
  Stage 1: ECL not Lifetime
  12-month credit ECL credit-
  ECL impaired impaired Total
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balance at 31 December 2017     31,423

Transition adjustment on adoption of FAS 30     (840)

Balance at 1 January 2018 (after transition adjustment) 5,201 12,452 12,930 30,583

 -  transferred to Stage 1: 12-month ECL  347 (75) (272) -

 -  transferred to Stage 2: Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (14) 1,350 (1,336) -

 -  transferred to Stage 3: Lifetime ECL credit-impaired  (37) (876) 913 -

Net remeasurement of loss allowance  (2,752) 559 4,157 1,964

Recoveries / write-backs  (107) (73) (1,179) (1,359)

Allowance for credit losses  (2,563) 885 2,283 605

Amounts written off during the period  - - (9,552) (9,552)

Balance at 31 December 2018  2,638 13,337 5,661 21,636
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9  FINANCING CONTRACTS (continued)

 Year ended 31 December 2017

  Individual Collective 
   impairment  impairment Total
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

As at 1 January  12,254  25,845  38,099

Charge / transfers  16,074  1,264  17,338 

Reversals / transfers  (1,749) (19,675)  (21,424)

Provisions - net  14,325  (18,411)  (4,086)

Write-offs  (2,590) -  (2,590)

As at 31 December 2017  23,989   7,434  31,423

9.1 Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek mainly comprise of land and building and are presented net of accumulated depreciation 
amounting to BD 107,833 thousand (2017: BD 93,600 thousand). 

9.2 During the year, the Bank took possession of properties with a carrying value of BD 250 thousand (2017 : 2,876 thousand) 
as part of financing settlement and were classified as repossessed assets in the receivables and other assets.

10  INVESTMENTS

The Group’s investments are classified as follows:

  2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Investments at fair value through statement of income 10.1 1,562  3,125 

Investments at fair value through equity 10.2 4,742  4,622

  6,304  7,747

10.1  Carried at fair value through statement of income
  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Held for trading  - 1,742

Designated at fair value upon initial recognition - Managed Fund  1,562 1,383

  1,562 3,125

10.2  Carried at fair value through equity
  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Quoted equity securities - cost  1,572 1,572

Unquoted equity securities - cost   8,065 8,065 

    9,637 9,637

Impairment provisions  (5,065) (5,015)

Fair value changes  170 -

  4,742 4,622
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10  INVESTMENTS (continued)

10.2.1   Movement in impairment provisions relating to investments:

  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

At 1 January  5,015  1,504 

Charge / reclassification to income statement  50  3,511

At 31 December  5,065  5,015  

10.2.2   The movement of investments carried at fair value through equity during the year is as follows:

  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

At 1 January  4,622  5,099 

Impairment provisions  (50)  (3,511)

Fair value changes  170 -

Reclassification to income statement on impairment  - 3,034

At 31 December  4,742 4,622 

10.3  Composition of investment portfolio:
The industry and geographic composition of the Group’s investment portfolio is as follows:

 Middle Total
  East 2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Banking and financial services  6,304  6,304 6,442

Others  -  - 1,305

  6,304   6,304 7,747

11  INVESTMENT IN SUKUKS

  2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Quoted sukuk

Government   111,951 65,479 

Unquoted sukuk

Government   86,211 70,700

Others   20,886 20,886

Less: allowance for credit losses   (9)  -

 11.1  219,039  157,065     

11.1 Investment in sukuk includes an amount of BD 52,750 thousand (2017: BD 54,438 thousand) financed by investment 
account holders’ funds. Fair value of investment in sukuk as at 31 December 2018 amounted to BD 219,656 thousand 
(2017: BD 158,346 thousand).
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12  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 

The Group has the following associates as at 31 December 2018:

Name of the associate Nature of business
Country of

incorporation
Holding

Deera Investment and 
Real Estate Development 
Company 

Real estate project development and property 
management.

Hashemite Kingdom of 
Jordan

28.0%

Energy Central B.S.C.(c) 
Providing district cooling, sea water desalination, 
waste water treatment and related services.

Kingdom of Bahrain 48.25%

The movement of the Group’s investment is associates is as follows:

  2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

At 1 January   12,599  129,302 

Investments during the year  -  1,323 

Disposals during the year  -  (115,156)

Distributions from the associates  -  (2,962)

Share of income from associates  170  425 

Share of other comprehensive income  22 266  197 

Provision for impairment   (150)  (757)

Other movements  -  227

At 31 December  12,885  12,599 

The quoted value of the investment in associates for which quoted prices are available is BD 4,527 thousand (2017: BD 5,182 
thousand). However, the quoted price does not represent the fair value as the shares are not actively traded. The fair value 
based on internal models approximates their carrying value.

13  RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

  2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Land and development cost 13.1  33,929 37,717 

Fees receivable  2,489  2,416 

Project expenses receivable   1,233  1,150 

Inventories   1,071  796 

Profit receivable  3,798  2,375 

Repossessed assets  7,273  7,023 

Trade receivables of subsidiaries  2,363  4,387 

Prepaid expenses  1,752  1,870 

Receivables relating to disposal of investments 14 205,400  223,663 

Receivables from corporate customers  1,113  1,442 

Other assets  1,322  1,589

Gross receivables and other assets  261,743  284,428 

Impairment provisions 13.2  (11,390)  (11,572)

  250,353  272,856  
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13  RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (continued)

13.1   Land and development cost

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Land  27,226  28,700 

Development cost  6,703  9,017

  33,929  37,717  

13.2   Movement in impairment provisions relating to receivables and other assets.

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

At 1 January  11,572  10,961 

Transitional adjustment  33  -   

Charge for the year  (28)  1,061 

Settlements / write-offs  (187)  (450)

At 31 December  11,390  11,572 

14  TRANSFER OF ASSETS

During 2017, the Ultimate Parent approved a capital optimization plan for the Bank pursuant to which certain assets were 
transferred to a nominated entity of the Ultimate Parent. The transferred assets included investments of BD 134,855 thousand, 
investment in real estate of BD 302,528 thousand and investment in associates of BD 109,300 thousand.

The transfer of assets was settled through adjustment of interbank borrowing from the Ultimate Parent of BD 118,466 thousand, 
distribution to the Ultimate Parent of BD 210,000 thousand and by way of recognising a receivable of BD 222,000 thousand 
from the nominated entity. The receivable is expected to be settled through realisation of assets transferred and dividend 
payouts from the Bank. The Ultimate Parent also provided a letter of guarantee for settlement of the receivable. The Bank 
continue to advise for the management and realisation of the transferred assets.

During the year, the receivable from the nominated entity has reduced by BD 18,095 thousand on account of dividend payout.

15  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 14 December 2017, the Group signed the share sale agreement for the transfer of ownership and control of a wholly owned 
subsidiary, Mena Telecom W.L.L. (“Mena”). Mena was engaged in providing telecommunication services under licenses issued 
by the Telecommunications Regulatory Authority of the Kingdom of Bahrain.

The results of Mena, included in the consolidated statement of income, based on the most recent management accounts were 
as follows:

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Revenue  -  10,433

Cost of sales  -  (2,516)

Operating income  -  7,917 

Operating expenses  -  (7,819)

Reversals (povisions) - net  -  2,502

  -  2,600 
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15  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flows received by Mena are as follows: 

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Net cash flows from operating activities  - 3,124

Net cash flows from investing activities  - (1,519)

  - 1,605

16  DUE TO BANKS

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha payables  112,540  90,849 

Wakala payables  111,350  72,321 

Current accounts  515  590

  224,405  163,760   

17  ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

At 31 December 2018, assets managed in a fiduciary capacity amounted to BD 649,294 thousand (2017: BD 609,857 thousand).

18  OTHER LIABILITIES

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Pay orders issued but not presented  2,623 2,320

Payable on account of financing contracts  1,243 851

Staff related accruals  4,070 4,393

Profit payable on due to banks, non-banks and subordinated wakala payable  7,968 4,616

Profit payable on equity of investment account holders  1,694 1,160

Trade payables of subsidiaries  195 2,042

Advance from customers  209 1,469

Contingencies and others  5,944 6,250

  23,946 23,101

19  SUBORDINATED WAKALA PAYABLE

The subordinated wakala payable carries a profit equivalent to a rate of 1% over the six month USD LIBOR. The facility has 
been approved by CBB to be recognised as Tier II capital and is unsecured and sub-ordinate to the claim of all creditors and 
will expire in 2022. Starting from 2017, the Bank has started to amortise this Tier II Capital in accordance with the relevant 
guidelines and regulation for capital adequacy purposes.

During the year, an amount of BD 3,074 thousand (2017: BD 2,962 thousand) has been charged to the consolidated statement 
of income in respect of subordinated wakala payable.
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20  EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

The mudarib share on investment accounts ranges from 30% to 85% (2017: 30% to 85%) depending on the investment period 
and in the case of saving accounts, where there is no restriction on cash withdrawal, the mudarib share ranges from 85% to 
95% (2017: 85% to 95%). The rate of return to investment account holders, as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, for various 
types of  investment accounts, denominated in BD and USD, is as follows:

   2018 2017
  Rate of return Rate of return
  % %

Investment Accounts - Denominated in BHD

Saving accounts  0.15  0.14 

VIP saving accounts   0.46  0.41 

One month investment accounts  1.30 - 1.50  1.20 

Three months investment accounts  1.60 - 1.70  1.40 

Six months investment accounts  1.90 - 2.00  1.65 

Nine months investment accounts  2.10 - 2.20  1.80 

One year investment accounts  2.30 - 2.60  1.90 - 2.00  

Investment accounts - denominated in USD

Saving accounts  0.15  0.14 

VIP saving accounts  0.31  0.30 

One month investment accounts  0.95 - 1.00  0.85 - 0.95 

Three months investment accounts  1.25 - 1.35  1.20 

Six months investment accounts  1.55 - 1.65  1.40 

Nine months investment accounts  1.70  1.50 

One year investment accounts  1.85 - 2.00  1.65 

20.1 Investment accounts by type
  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Saving accounts  189,228  184,071 

VIP saving accounts  13,380  22,285 

One month investment accounts  33,231  67,108 

Three months investment accounts  52,609  67,828 

Six months investment accounts  45,591  47,175 

Nine months investment accounts  3,081  2,767 

One year and above investment accounts  147,894  86,442

  485,014  477,676
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21  SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Authorised:
3,500,000 thousand (2017 : 3,500,000 thousand) ordinary shares of BD 0.1 each  350,000 350,000

Issued and fully paid up:
As at the beginning and end of the year 1,325,187 thousand
  (2017 : 1,325,187 thousand) shares  132,519  132,519 

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium
Amounts collected in excess of the par value of the issued share capital during any new issue of shares, net of issue 
expenses, are treated as share premium. This amount is not available for distribution, but can be utilised as stipulated by the 
Bahrain Commercial Companies Law (“BCCL”).

Statutory reserve
As required by Bahrain Commercial Companies Law (“BCCL”) and the Bank’s articles of association, 10% of the net income 
for the year has been transferred to the statutory reserve. However, as allowed under BCCL the Bank may resolve to 
discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of paid up share capital. The reserve is not distributable 
except in such circumstances as stipulated in the BCCL and following the approval of the CBB.

Fair value through equity reserve
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from investments carried at fair value through equity, if not determined to be impaired, 
recorded in the fair value through equity reserve and not available for distribution. Upon disposal of such assets, the related 
cumulative gains or losses are transferred to retained earnings and become available for distribution.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings is the cumulative amount of annual earnings not paid out as dividends. Included in retained earnings is a 
non-distributable reserve amounting to BD 1,459 thousand (2017: BD 1,502 thousand) relating to subsidiaries of the Bank.

Proposed dividend
Proposed dividend is shown seperately within equity till it is approved by the Annual General Meeting. The Board of 
Directors of the Bank have proposed a dividend of BD 16,608 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017 : 
BD 18,095 thousand). This proposal is subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of the Bank and completion 
of legal formalities.
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22  TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Net income for the year  18,417 20,012

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Fair value adjustments against fair value through equity investments  170 -

Reclassification to income statement on impairment of equity investment  - 3,034

Net movement in foreign currency translation reserve  - 91

Share of other comprehensive income of associates  266 197

Total other comprehensive income for the year  436 3,322

Total comprehensive income for the year  18,853 23,334

Adjustment attributable to non-controlling shareholders  36 94

  18,889 23,428

23  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Contingent liabilities

Letters of credit  9,660 25,536

Guarantees  9,788 11,076

  19,448 36,612

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit

(original term to maturity of one year or less)  53,355 97,949

Development cost commitment 23.1 388 517

  73,191 135,078

23.1 This represent payments to be made to contractors and consultants for a development project in progress.

Operating lease commitments
At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases amounting to BD 3,877 
thousand (2017: BD 1,424 thousand) relating to leasehold premises. Of the commitments in respect of operating leases, 
BD 1,184 thousand (2017: BD 1,130 thousand) are due within one year, BD 2,667 thousand (2017: BD 250 thousand) are 
due in one to five years and the remaining over five years.
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24  INCOME FROM FINANCING CONTRACTS

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha  20,730 16,922

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 24.1 26,495 21,384

Musharaka  19 26

Due from banks  1,764 972

 24.2 49,008 39,304

Mudarib share from off balance sheet equity of investment account holders  2,348 2,692

Fees and commission income  965 948

Income from financing contracts  52,321  42,944

24.1 This is presented net of depreciation on Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek assets amounting to BD 42,881 thousand 
(2017: BD 40,589 thousand)

24.2  This is excluding income of BD 3,239 thousand (2017: BD 954 thousand) suspended during the year on account of 
regulatory requirements.

25  INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Net unrealised gain on investments 25.1 174 34

Net gain on sale of investments  1,309 8,719

Dividend income  39 82

Fee income  1,745 1,029

Foreign exchange  811 380

Rental income  - 24

Other income  25.2 2,575 -

  6,653 10,268

25.1 This represents fair value changes recognized during the year based on the recent net asset values “NAV’s” of the 
managed funds.

25.2  Other income include gain from the sale of an asset of BD 2,548 thousand recorded during the year.

26  INCOME AND EXPENSE RELATING TO FINANCING CONTRACTS AND SUKUK

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Income from on-balance sheet financing contracts 24 49,008 39,304

Income from sukuk  11,245 6,979

  60,253 46,283

Less: Profit on due to banks, due to non-banks and 
  subordinated wakala payable 30 18,551 11,599

Less: Return on equity of investment account holders  6,579 5,243

  25,130 16,842

  35,123 29,441
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27  NON-BANKING BUSINESS ENTITIES

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Revenue  3,362 5,576

Direct cost  3,479 5,076

Net (loss) revenue from non-banking business entities  (117) 500

Operating expenses of non-banking business entities 27.1 (707) (920)

  (824) (420)

27.1 Operating expenses

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Staff costs  349 251

Depreciation  4 18

Other expenses  354 651

  707 920

28  PROVISIONS - NET

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000 BD 000

Balances with Banks and Central Bank of Bahrain  (249) -

Due from banks  395 -

Financing contracts                                                                                              9  605 (4,086)

Investments 10.2.1 50 3,511

Investment in sukuk  (17) -

Investment in associates  150 757

Receivables and other assets  (28) 1,061

Financing commitments and financial guarantees  (447) -

  459 1,243



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
At 31 December 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
At 31 December 2018

KFH-Bahrain   Annual Report 2018 Financial Statements p63p62

29  OTHER EXPENSES
   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Business development  1,813 1,428

Technology and communication  3,129 2,937

Legal, consulting and outsourcing  539 860

Premises - rentals and maintenance  2,393 2,330

Administration, selling and others  1,517 1,684

  9,391 9,239

30  PROFIT ON DUE TO BANKS, NON-BANKS AND SUBORDINATED WAKALA PAYABLE

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Due to banks  6,368 4,356

Due to non-banks  9,109 4,281

Subordinated wakala payable (note 19)  3,074 2,962

  18,551 11,599

31  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of the following amounts:

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Cash  9,780 9,795

Balances with banks   6,589 19,573

Balances with CBB excluding mandatory reserve  1,828 7,134

Due from banks with original maturity of less than ninety days  70,504 21,998

  88,701 58,500
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32  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related parties represent associated companies, the parent and its major shareholders, directors and key management 
personnel of the Bank, the Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced 
by such parties. Transactions with related parties arise from the ordinary course of business. Pricing policies and terms of these 
transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Outstanding balances at the year end, excluding financing contracts, 
are unsecured.

The balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

   Directors and
   key Other
   management related Total Total
  Parent personnel parties 2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balances with Banks  1,400 - 20 1,420 1,549

Financing contracts *  - 4,914 58,811 63,725 69,033

Investment in sukuk  - - 20,886 20,886 20,886

Fees receivable  - - 835 835 762

Receivables and other assets  - - 203,904 203,904 222,000

Due to banks  32,873 - - 32,873 50,266

Due to non-banks  - - 25,550 25,550 27,825

Customers’ current accounts  292 444 5,612 6,348 3,456

Subordinated wakala payable  94,250 - - 94,250 94,250

Equity of investment account holders  - 1,444 12,921 14,365 11,834

Letters of credit   - - 1,528 1,528 4,378

Commitments to extend credit  - - 4,501 4,501 1,163

Off balance sheet equity of investment account holders

  - Funds extended to related parties  - - 135,110 135,110 135,080

 - Funds received from related parties  - - 4,550 4,550 4,550

Assets under management  - - 597,872 597,872 596,149

* includes stage 3 exposures of BD 16,961 thousand (2017: BD 17,046 thousand).
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32  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (continued)

The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

   Directors and
   key Other
   management related Total Total
  Parent personnel parties 2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Income from financing contracts  - 189 2,078 2,267 3,592

Income from investment in sukuk  - - 1,271 1,271 1,271

Fee income  - - 1,347 1,347 798

Allowance for credit losses  - 17 1,603 1,620 -

Profit on due to banks  672 - - 672 2,876

Profit on due to non-banks  - - 998 998 554

Profit on subordinated wakala payable  3,074 - - 3,074 2,962

Profit on equity investment account holders  - 30 828 858 783

Staff costs  - 6,495 152 6,647 5,626

Other expenses  - - 1,161 1,161 1,120

Mudarib share of off-balance sheet equity
  of investment account holders  - - 2,348 2,348 2,692

Compensation of key management personnel, included in the consolidated statement of income, is as follows:

   2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Short term employee benefits   6,133 5,202

Long term employee benefits   362 296

Directors’ remuneration and attendance fee for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to BD 195 thousand and 
BD 116 thousand respectively (2017: BD 198 thousand and BD 120 thousand respectively).
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33  SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into the following segments.

Retail & Corporate Banking Group Principally engaged in Shari’a compliant profit sharing investment arrangements, 
providing Shari’a compliant financing contracts and other facilities to corporate, retail 
and institutional customers. 

Investment Banking Group Principally engaged in investment banking activities, including private equity and other 
activities.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit (as reported in internal 
management reports) which is measured using the same measurement principles as are used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements.

Group revenues for the current and prior year does not include significant revenues (i.e. more than 10% of the Group’s total 
revenue) from any single external customer.

The following table presents operating income, net income, total assets and total liabilities of the Group’s segments for the 
year ended 31 December 2018:
 
 Retail & Investment
 Corporate Banking
 Group Group Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Operating income 60,509 9,763 70,272

Net income for the year from continuing operations 14,036 4,381 18,417

Net income for the year   18,417

Segment assets 1,208,023 296,779 1,504,802

Segment liabilities and equity of investment account holders 1,321,707 832 1,322,539

The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s net income and total assets by geographical segments, based on 
the location in which the transactions and assets are recorded, for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

  Other
 Bahrain countries Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Operating income  68,489 1,783 70,272

Segment assets  1,452,224 52,578 1,504,802

Other countries mainly represent State of Kuwait and Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.
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33  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following table presents operating income, net income, total assets and total liabilities of the Group’s segments for the 
year ended 31 December 2017:

 Retail & Investment
 Corporate Banking  
 Group Group Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Operating income 49,923 11,193 61,116

Net income for the year from continuing operations 11,580 5,832 17,412

Net results for the year from discontinued operations - 2,600 2,600

Net income for the year   20,012

Segment assets 979,451 330,874 1,310,325

Segment liabilities and equity of investment account holders 722,664 406,154 1,128,818

The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s net income and total assets by geographical segments, based on the 
location in which the transactions and assets are recorded, for the year ended 31 December 2017.

  Other
 Bahrain countries Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Operating income 60,082 1,034 61,116

Segment assets 1,250,508 59,817 1,310,325

Other countries mainly represent State of Kuwait and Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

34  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the value representing the estimate of the amount of cash or cash equivalent that would be received for an asset 
sold or the amount of cash or cash equivalent paid for a liability extinguished or transferred in an orderly transaction between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller at the measurement date.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the fair value of financial instruments approximate their carrying values. 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of instruments by valuation technique:

- Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data.
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34  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 2018 2018 2018 2018
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Investments at fair value through statement of income

  Managed funds -   1,562   - 1,562

Investments at fair value through equity

   Quoted equity securities   552   - - 552

   Unquoted equity securities - - 4,190 4,190

   552  1,562 4,190 6,304

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 2017 2017 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Investments at fair value through statement of income

  Investments held for trading 1,742 - - 1,742

  Managed funds - 1,383 - 1,383

Investments at fair value through equity

   Quoted equity securities 382 - - 382

   Unquoted equity securities - - 4,240 4,240

 2,124 1,383 4,240 7,747

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
At 31 December 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
At 31 December 2018

KFH-Bahrain   Annual Report 2018 Financial Statements p69p68

34  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 financial assets which are recorded at 
fair value.

 Unquoted  Unquoted  
 equity Managed equity Managed
 securities funds securities funds
 2018 2018 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balance at 1 January 4,240 - 142,867 -

Provisions / unrealised fair value loss (50) - (357) -

Disposals / redemptions during the year - - (138,270) -

Balance at 31 December  4,190 - 4,240 -

Impact on fair value of Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value of changes to key assumptions

  Effect of  Effect of
  reasonably  reasonably
  possible  possible
 Carrying alternative Carrying alternative
 amount assumption amount assumption
 2018 2018 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Investments at fair value through equity

  Unquoted equity securities 4,190 419 4,240 424

 4,190 419 4,240 424

In order to determine reasonably possible alternative assumptions the Group adjusted key unobservable models inputs 
as follows:

For equities, the Group adjusted the price earning ratio by increasing and decreasing the price earning ratio by ten 
percent, which is considered by the Group to be within a range of reasonably possible alternatives based on the price 
earning ratios of companies with similar industry and risk profiles.

For managed funds, the Group values its investments based on a net asset value, which is determined by the fund 
manager. The Group adjusted the value of the funds to increase or decrease by ten percent, which is considered by the 
Group to be within a range of reasonably possible alternatives.
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35  MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

The table below shows an analysis of assets, liabilities and equity of investment account holders analysed according to when 
they are expected to be recovered or settled. Group’s contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are disclosed in note 
36.3 ‘Risk Management - Liquidity Risk and Funding Management’.

 Up to one year Over one year
   Subtotal    Subtotal 

 Up to 3 to 12 up to 1 to 5 5 to 10 Over 10 Over 

 3 months months 12 months years years years 1 year Total

 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Assets
Cash and balances with banks and 
  Central Bank of Bahrain 10,090 1,720 11,810 14,818 6,963 16,060 37,841 49,651

Due from banks 74,651 - 74,651 - - - - 74,651

Financing contracts  185,381 91,452 276,833 292,043 230,843 87,060 609,946 886,779

Investments - - - 6,304 - - 6,304 6,304

Investment in sukuk - 37,699 37,699 44,393 136,947 - 181,340 219,039

Investment in associates - - - 12,885 - - 12,885 12,885

Receivables and other assets 22,384 37,063 59,447 190,906 - - 190,906 250,353

Premises and equipments - - - - 5,140 - 5,140 5,140

Total 292,506 167,934 460,440 561,349 379,893 103,120 1,044,362 1,504,802

Liabilities and equity of investment
  account holders

Customers’ current accounts 6,872 - 6,872 40,292 40,292 40,292 120,876 127,748

Due to banks 82,985 9,000 91,985 132,420 - - 132,420 224,405

Due to non-banks 5,027 25,550 30,577 277,658 29,471 29,470 336,599 367,176

Other liabilities 17,541 3,965 21,506 2,440 - - 2,440 23,946

Equity of investment account holders 12,008 11,863 23,871 153,715 153,714 153,714 461,143 485,014

Subordinated wakala payable - - - 94,250 - - 94,250 94,250

Total 124,433 50,378 174,811 700,775 223,477 223,476 1,147,728 1,322,539

Net 168,073 117,556 285,629 (139,426) 156,416 (120,356) (103,366) 182,263
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35  MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS (continued)

 Up to one year Over one year
  3 months Subtotal    Subtotal 

 Up to up to up to 1 to 5 5 to 10 Over 10 Over 

 3 months 12 months 12 months years years years 1 year Total

 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Assets
Cash and balances with banks and 
  Central Bank of Bahrain 19,447 3,541 22,988 10,818 7,453 25,703 43,974 66,962

Due from banks 46,107 - 46,107 - - - - 46,107

Financing contracts  67,657 115,959 183,616 270,464 210,213 73,259 553,936 737,552

Investments 1,742 1,765 3,507 - 4,240 - 4,240 7,747

Investment in sukuk 8,000 15,627 23,627 58,586 74,852 - 133,438 157,065

Investment in associates - - - 12,599 - - 12,599 12,599

Receivables and other assets 5,653 15 5,668 267,188 - - 267,188 272,856

Premises and equipments - - - - 9,437 - 9,437 9,437

Total 148,606 136,907 285,513 619,655 306,195 98,962 1,024,812 1,310,325

Liabilities and equity of investment
  account holders

Customers’ current accounts 8,078 - 8,078 42,340 42,340 42,340 127,020 135,098

Due to banks 63,040 - 63,040 100,720 - - 100,720 163,760

Due to non-banks 4,402 66,537 70,939 117,856 23,069 23,069 163,994 234,933

Other liabilities 14,737 4,408 19,145 3,956 - - 3,956 23,101

Equity of investment account holders 16,181 16,625 32,806 148,290 148,290 148,290 444,870 477,676

Subordinated wakala payable - - - 94,250 - - 94,250 94,250

Total 106,438 87,570 194,008 507,412 213,699 213,699 934,810 1,128,818

Net 42,168 49,337 91,505 112,243 92,496 (114,737) 90,002 181,507
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT

36.1 Introduction 
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 
monitoring of material risks. The Group manages its exposure to risks within the approved risk limits. The process of risk 
management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each business unit within the Group is accountable for the risk 
exposures relating to its responsibilities. The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being 
subdivided into trading and non-trading risks. The Group is also subject to prepayment risk and operating risk.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology and 
industry. These are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process.

Risk management structure
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling risks; however, there are separate independent 
bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies, policies 
and risk appetite of the Bank.

Audit & Compliance Committee (ACC)
The ACC is a Board appointed committee which is comprised of two independent directors and an executive director. The 
Chairman of the Committee is also an independent director. For audit related matters, the committee assists the Board of 
Directors in carrying out its responsibilities with respect to assessing the quality and integrity of financial reporting, the audit 
thereof and the soundness of the internal controls of the Bank. For compliance related matters, the committee assists the Board 
of Directors in the assessment of compliance with law, regulations and other requirements imposed on the Bank from time to 
time. The committee also overseas and manages the compliance and anti financial crime requirements of the Bank and legal 
related matters.

Risk Committee (RC)
The Board Risk Committee is a Board appointed committee which is comprised of three independent directors and one executive 
director. The Chairman of the Committee is also an independent director. The committee is a reviewing and recommending 
body appointed by the Board of Directors to assist the Board in discharging its oversight duties relating to:

- Recommendation of the risk charter of the bank to the Board, highlighting the key risks from identified business strategies, 
the risk appetite, the risk governance models including strategies, policies, processes, roles and responsibilities relating to 
various departments and various levels of risk management within the Bank; and

- Establishing appropriate policies and procedures to mitigate the applicable risks on the overall operations of the Bank.

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee is a Board appointed committee which is comprised of three independent directors 
including the Chairman. The committee is a reviewing and recommending body appointed by the Board of Directors to assist 
the Board in discharging its oversight duties relating to:

- Establishing appropriate Corporate Governance structures, delegation of authority and reporting protocols;

- Ensure potential measure and improvements in corporate governance are implemented.

Internal Control Systems
The Board is responsible for approving and reviewing the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal control, for the purpose 
of ensuring effective and efficient operations, quality of internal and external reporting, internal control, and compliance with laws 
and regulations. Senior Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining the system of internal control designed to 
manage the risk of failure to achieve the Bank’s objectives. The system of internal control can only provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against the risk of material loss.

The effectiveness of the internal control system is reviewed by the Board and the Audit & Compliance Committee, which also 
receives review reports undertaken by the Bank’s Internal Audit, Compliance and Anti Financial Crime departments. The Audit & 
Compliance Committee reviews the management letters issued by the external auditors and holds periodic meetings with them 
to discuss various matters including existing and potential internal control issues.

The regulatory non-compliances, if any, resulting in financial penalties are disclosed in the Annual Public Disclosures of the Bank. 
The Bank always enhances its internal control environment to avoid recurrence of similar penalties.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.1 Introduction (continued)

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) / Risk Management Committee (RMC)
ALCO / RMC is a senior management committee responsible for maintaining oversight of the Bank’s risk profile and governance 
aspects. It helps the Risk Committee in establishing the risk policies and strategies and monitors the risk appetite in terms of 
risk limits and reports. It also controls the risks by appropriate actions. ALCO / RMC establishes policy and objectives for the 
asset and liability management of the Bank in terms of structure, distribution, risk and return and its impact on profitability. It also 
monitors the cash flow, cost and yield profiles and tenor of assets and liabilities and evaluates both from profit rate sensitivity 
and liquidity points of view, makes corrective adjustments based upon perceived trends and market conditions and monitors 
liquidity, foreign exchange exposures and positions. 

Shari’a Supervisory Board
The Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board is entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring the Bank’s adherence to Shari’a rules and 
principles in its transactions and activities. 

Provisioning Committee (PC)
The PC is a senior management committee responsible for ensuring adequate provisions and profit suspensions against all 
the past due and impaired exposures of the Bank. It reviews past due details and approve the resulting provisioning and profit 
suspension amounts submitted by the respective departments in line with the approved Provisions & Impairment Policy of the 
Bank. The PC also reviews credit classification and reclassification requests submitted by Business Units and recommends the 
provisions and profit suspensions to the Audit & Compliance Committee and Board of Directors for final approval.

Risk management department
The Risk Management Department is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures to ensure an 
independent control process. It also helps the ALCO / RMC in establishing risk strategies, policies and limits, across the Bank. The 
department is also responsible for the independent control of risks, including monitoring the risk of exposures against limits and 
the assessment of risks of new products and structured transactions. This department also ensures the complete capture of the 
risks in risk measurement and reporting systems and performs stress tests on the various portfolios of the Bank.

Treasury department
The treasury department is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure. It is also 
primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank.

Internal audit
Independent, objective activity that reviews the effectiveness of risk management, internal control environment and governance 
processes. Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with the management, and reports its findings and 
recommendations to the Audit & Compliance Committe.

Compliance department
The compliance department is responsible for managing all the compliance related issues with the external parties and 
regulators.

Risk measurement and reporting systems 
The Group identifies, measures, controls and monitors its material risks on a periodic basis. The Bank has established relevant 
risk limit structures to quantify its risk appetite. The Bank conducts stress testing under various scenarios for its material 
portfolios using statistical methods to assess the impact of such scenarios on its portfolio and regulatory capital. 

Established risk limits reflect the business strategy and market environment in which the Bank operates as well as the level of 
risk that the Bank is willing to accept. In addition, the Bank monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation 
to the aggregate risk exposures across its material risk types and activities.

Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify risks at an 
early stage. This information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, the Risk Committee and senior management. 
The report includes aggregate credit exposures, concentration limits, investment limits, foreign exchange exposures, profit rate 
limits, liquidity gaps and ratios and changes in Group’s risk profile. On a periodic basis, detailed reporting of industry, customer 
and geographic risks takes place. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the allowance for credit losses on 
a quarterly basis. The Board of Directors receives the risk management report once in a quarter or when needed which is 
designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and conclude on the risks of the Group.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.1 Introduction (continued)

As part of the Risk Management’s reporting framework, tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure 
that all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information. Periodic briefing is given to the 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and all other relevant members of the Bank on the asset quality, utilisation of 
market limits, proprietary investments and liquidity and any other risk developments.

36.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties fail to discharge their 
contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls its credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to 
accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation 
to such limits.

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness 
of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established with the use of a credit risk 
classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings for corporate customers are subject to revision 
at the time of renewal of the corporate facility. The credit quality review process allows the Bank to assess the potential loss as 
a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action.

The Bank has adopted FAS 30 starting January 2018 where impairment is based on a forward-looking Expected Credit Loss 
(ECL) model. ECL would be measured taking into account the projected cash flows, Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given 
Default (LGD) and Exposure At Default (EAD). The amount of ECLs recognised as a loss allowance or provision  depends on 
the extent of credit deterioration since initial recognition.

Credit-related commitments risk
The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Bank makes payments on their behalf. Such 
payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the letter of credit. They expose the Bank to risks similar to 
financing contracts and these are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk without taking collateral
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the 
Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus on 
maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly. 

The maximum credit exposure to any client or counterparty as of 31 December 2018 was BD 81,016 thousand (2017: BD 62,684 
thousand).

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and 
collateral agreements.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.2  Credit Risk (continued)

  Gross Gross
  maximum maximum
  exposure exposure
  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Balances with banks  39,871 57,167

Due from banks  74,651 46,107

Financing contracts  886,779 737,552

Investment in sukuk  219,039 157,065

Receivables and other assets  212,552 226,386

Total  1,432,892 1,224,277

Contingent liabilities and commitments  73,191 135,078

Total credit risk exposure  1,506,083 1,359,355

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but 
not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group financial assets having credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held can be analysed by the following 
geographical regions:

  Other North
 Bahrain GCC America Other Total
 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balances with banks and Central
  Bank of Bahrain 33,295 2,854 3,565  157 39,871

Due from banks 36,148 34,356 4,147 - 74,651

Financing contracts 876,118 10,661 - - 886,779

Investment in sukuk 219,039 - - - 219,039

Receivables and other assets 6,711 205,841 - - 212,552

Contingent liabilities and commitments 73,191 - - - 73,191

Total  1,244,502 253,712 7,712 157 1,506,083

  Other North
 Bahrain GCC America Other Total
 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balances with banks and Central
  Bank of Bahrain 38,085 3,634 15,343 105 57,167

Due from banks 11,197 22,934 11,976 - 46,107

Financing contracts 707,478 30,074 - - 737,552

Investment in sukuk 157,065 - - - 157,065

Receivables and other assets 2,384 224,002 - - 226,386

Contingent liabilities and commitments 135,078 - - - 135,078

Total 1,051,287 280,644 27,319 105 1,359,355
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.2  Credit Risk (continued)

An industry sector analysis of the Group’s financial assets having credit risk, before taking into account collateral held or other 
credit enhancements, is as follows:

  Banking 
 Trading and Construction
 and financial and
 manufacturing institutions real estate Other Total
 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balances with banks and
  Central Bank of Bahrain -     39,871   -     -     39,871 

Due from banks -     74,651   -     -     74,651 

Financing contracts 83,340   1,988   480,147   321,304   886,779 

Investment in sukuk -     198,156   20,883   -     219,039 

Receivables and other assets -     3,932   207,654   966   212,552 

Contingent liabilities and commitments 21,455   -     7,162   44,574   73,191 

Total  104,795   318,598   715,846   366,844   1,506,083  

  Banking 
 Trading and Construction
 and financial and
 manufacturing institutions real estate Other Total
 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Balances with banks and
  Central Bank of Bahrain - 57,167 - - 57,167

Due from banks - 46,107 - - 46,107

Financing contracts 74,239 12,262 427,140 223,911 737,552

Investment in sukuk - 136,179 20,886 - 157,065

Receivables and other assets - 2,655 222,683 1,048 226,386

Contingent liabilities and commitments 66,350 - 8,983 59,745 135,078

Total  140,589 254,370 679,692 284,704 1,359,355
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.2  Credit Risk (continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are 
implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained by the Bank are as follows:

- For commercial financing, lien over investment accounts, charges over real estate properties, inventory, trade receivables 
and unlisted equities; and

- For retail and consumer financing, lien over investment accounts, and mortgages over the related assets. 
 

The Bank also obtains personal guarantees from companies owners for commercial financing obtained. Management monitors 
the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitors the 
market value of collateral obtained periodically during its review of the Expected credit losses. 

The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that 
the Bank will take possession of the collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and 
related collateral held in order to miitgate potential losses are shown below:

    Fair Value
 Gross Expected  Carrying of Collateral 
 Exposures Credit Loss Amount Held
 2018 2018 2018 2018
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha  29,740 2,109 27,631 165,935

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 48,328 3,522 44,806 158,497

Musharaka  40 31 9 148

Total  78,108 5,662 72,446 324,580

    Fair Value
 Gross Expected  Carrying of Collateral 
 Exposures Credit Loss Amount Held
 2017 2017 2017 2017
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

Murabaha  33,930 6,716 27,214 132,539

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek* 31,291 6,204 25,087 138,115

Musharaka  66 10 56 131

Total  65,287 12,930 52,357 270,785
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.2  Credit Risk (continued)

Individually assessed provisions
The Group performs assessment of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR) using qualitative 
and quantitative information appropriate for each individually significant financing contract on an individual basis. Individual 
assessment is important for large material exposures, as these are managed individually and incorporate obligor and facility 
specific information. The ECL is evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more careful 
attention.

Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for financing contracts

Collectively assessed provisions
ECLs are assessed collectively for financing contracts in case of small, very immaterial portfolios. Provisions are evaluated on 
each reporting date with each portfolio subjected to a separate review. Collective assessment would enable application of 
standardized rules to specific portfolios for assessing SICR.

The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even though there is not yet 
objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration 
of the following information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic conditions, the approximate delay between 
the time a loss is likely to have been incurred and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment 
provision, and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. Management is responsible for deciding the length of this 
period which can extend for as long as one year. The impairment provision is then reviewed as a part of the credit management 
framework to ensure alignment with the Group’s overall policy.

36.3  Liquidity risk and funding management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and stress 
circumstances. To limit this risk, management arranges diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, manages 
assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of 
expected cash flows and the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.

The Group maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily liquidated in the event of an 
unforeseen interruption of cash flow. The Group also has committed lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs. 
In addition, the Bank maintains a mandatory reserve with the Central Bank of Bahrain equal to 5% of customer deposits 
denominated in Bahrain Dinars, excluding deposits from resident subsidiaries. The liquidity position is assessed and managed 
under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically 
to the Bank. The most important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of liquid assets to customer liabilities. Liquid assets 
comprise of cash and balances with banks and Central Bank of Bahrain, due from banks, investment in quoted securities and 
liquid sukuk. Customer liabilities comprise of customers’ current accounts,  investment accounts and murabaha due to non-
banks. The ratios during the year were as follows:

  2018 2017
  % %

31 December  32.95 29.60

During the year:

Average  33.24 30.78

Highest  35.69 36.32

Lowest  28.58 25.83
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.3  Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

Analysis of financial liabilities and equity of investment account holders by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and equity of investment account 
holders at 31 December 2018 and 2017 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Maturity analysis of 
assets, liabilities and equity of investment account holders by expected maturities is disclosed in Note 35. Repayments 
which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many 
customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay and the table does not 
reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.

  On Less than 3 to 12 1 to 
  demand 3 months months 5 years Total
  BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

At 31 December 2018

Due to banks  515 92,130 - 147,710 240,355

Due to non-banks  - 135,434 226,921 12,371 374,726

Customers’ current accounts  127,748 - - - 127,748

Other liabilities  - 17,541 3,965 2,440 23,946

Equity of investment account holders  202,608 133,612 139,425 11,639 487,284

Subordinated wakala payable  -    - - 107,963 107,963

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2018  330,871 378,717 370,311 282,123 1,362,022

At 31 December 2017

Due to banks  137 276,387 31,002 20,963 328,489

Due to non-banks  - 44,237 29,188 1,100 74,525

Customers’ current accounts  135,098 - - - 135,098

Other liabilities  - 14,737 4,408 3,956 23,101

Equity of investment account holders  206,356 173,388 99,050 390 479,184

Subordinated wakala payable  - - - 103,524 103,524

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 2017  341,591 508,749 163,648 129,933 1,143,921

Contingent liabilities and commitments
These include commitments to enter into contracts which are designed to meet the requirements of the Group’s customers. 
Commitments represent contractual commitments under murabaha, musharaka and ijarah muntahia bittamleek contracts. 
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being 
exercised, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash flow requirements.

Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers 
contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.3  Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group’s credit commitments and contingent items. 

 On Less than 3 to 12 1 to 5
 demand 3 months months years Total
 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000 BD 000

At 31 December 2018
Letters of credit 2,435 - 7,225 - 9,660

Guarantees 9,788 - - - 9,788

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit - 3,587 40,856 8,912 53,355

Development commitment - - 388 - 388

Total 12,223 3,587  48,469  8,912 73,191

At 31 December 2017
Letters of credit 5,201 -     20,335   -     25,536 

Guarantees 11,076   -     -     -     11,076 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit -     5,170   67,627   25,152   97,949 

Investment commitment -     -     517   -     517

Total 16,277   5,170   88,479   25,152   135,078 

The Group does not expect any material loss in respect of the above.

36.4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
variables such as profit rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. The Group manages and monitors the positions using 
sensitivity analysis.

Profit rate risk
Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of financial 
instruments. The Bank measures the profit rate risk by measuring and managing the repricing gaps. It also performs 
sensitivity analysis.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to reasonably possible change in profit rates, with all other variables held 
constant of the Group’s consolidated statement of income. The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of income is the 
effect of the assumed changes in profit rates on the consolidated net income for the year, based on the non-trading financial 
assets and financial liabilities held as at the date of statement of financial position.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.4 Market risk (continued)

Profit rate risk (continued)

The effect of decrease in basis points is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increase shown.

   Effect
   on net 
   income
  Change for the
 2018 in basis  year
 BD 000 points BD 000

ASSETS
Due from banks 74,651 +25 187

Financing contracts 729,828 +25 1,825

Investments in sukuk 219,039 +25 548

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

Due to banks 224,405 +25 (561)

Due to non-banks 367,176 +25 (918)

Subordinated wakala payable 94,250 +25 (236)

Equity of investment account holders 485,014 +25 (1,213)

Total   (368)

   Effect
   on net 
   income
  Change for the
 2017 in basis  year
 BD 000 points BD 000

ASSETS
Due from banks 46,107 +25 115

Financing contracts 581,382 +25 1,453

Investments in sukuk 157,065 +25 393

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

Due to banks 163,760 +25 (409)

Due to non-banks 234,933 +25 (588)

Subordinated wakala payable 94,250 +25 (236)

Equity of investment account holders 477,676 +25 (1,194)

Total   (466)
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.4 Market risk (continued)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Bank has established Value at Risk limit for foreign currency exposures. This limit is monitored on a regular basis by the risk 
management department and reported to the ALCO / RMC.

The Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies as of 31 December:

  Equivalent Equivalent
  long long
  (short) (short)
  2018 2017
  BD 000 BD 000

Currency

NZD   67 3

KWD   723 (351)

GBP  (66) (5)

EUR  (92) (108)

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December on all its monetary assets 
and liabilities. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the Bahraini 
Dinar, with all other variables held constant, on the consolidated statement of income.

The effect of decreases in currency rate is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

 Change in Effect on Effect on Change in Effect on Effect on
 currency profit equity currency profit equity
 rate 2018 2018 rate 2017 2017
 % BD 000 BD 000 % BD 000 BD 000

NZD +20 13 - +20 1 -

KWD +20 145 - +20 (70) -

GBP +20 (13) - +20 (1) -

EUR +20 (18)  - +20 (22) -

Total  127 -   (92) -

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the 
value of individual stocks. The equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment portfolio.

The effect on income and equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments at 31 December 2018) due to 
a reasonably possible change (i.e. +10%) in the value of individual investments, with all other variables held constant, is nil 
and BD 660 thousand (2017: BD 174 thousand and BD 964 thousand) respectively, except in cases where impairment loss 
occured which will result in decrease being taken to the consolidated statement of income. The effect of decrease in the value 
of individual investments is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increase shown.
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36  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

36.5 Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or request 
repayment earlier than expected. The Group is not exposed to any significant prepayment risk.

37.6 Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to 
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The 
Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to 
potential risks. The Bank has implemented Risks Controls and Self Assessment process (RCSA) whereby each of the units 
identifies risks in processes, key risk indicators and implemented controls. The key risk indicators values and actual incidents to 
the operational risk unit are reported to senior management for action. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. 

37  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the Group’s 
capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision (“BIS rules/ratios“) and adopted by the Central Bank of Bahrain in supervising the Group. The Bank has also 
implemented the Internal Capital Adequacy and Assessment Plan (ICAAP) as per the CBB guidelines based on Pillar II 
recommendations of the Basel Committee. The Bank had identified the capital requirement for future three years based on the 
Bank’s projected financials and the risk charges required for its significant risks including credit risk, market risk, profit rate risk, 
liquidity risk, investments risks and operational risks. The Board of Directors, on an annual basis, review and approve the ICAAP 
plan for both normal and stress conditions.

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed 
capital requirements and that the Group maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. The policies and procedures were update to 
incorporate the requirements of FAS 30, no other material changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from 
the previous years.
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37  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

Regulatory capital and risk-weighted assets
The regulatory capital and risk-weighted assets have been calculated in accordance with Basel III as adopted by the CBB.

   2018 2017
 Note BD 000  BD 000

Common equity Tier 1 capital 37.1 173,645 173,703

Tier 2 capital 37.2 78,751 92,259

Total capital  252,396 265,962

Credit risk-weighted assets  1,022,087 888,06

Market risk-weighted assets  27,959 31,715

Operational risk-weighted assets  149,859 176,254

Total risk weighted assets  1,199,905 1,096,038

Capital adequacy ratio  21.0% 24.3%

Minimum requirement  12.5% 12.5%

37.1 Common equity Tier 1 capital comprises of share capital, share premium, general reserve, statutory reserve and retained 
earnings, less unrealised loss arising from fair valuing equities.

37.2 Tier 2 capital comprises of subordinated wakala payable, provisions against stage 1 and stage 2 exposures and asset 
revaluation reserves. Certain adjustments are made to AAOIFI-based results and reserves, as prescribed by the Central 
Bank of Bahrain. 

38  EARNINGS AND EXPENSES PROHIBITED BY SHARI’A 

The Group did not receive any significant income or incur significant expenses which were prohibited by the Shari’a.

39  SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Bank discharges its social responsibilities through donations to charitable causes and organisations approved by Shari’a 
Supervisory Board.

40  COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain of the prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year. Such 
reclassification does not affect previously reported net income or owners’ equity.
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